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Dixons Academies Trust
Reference and Administrative Details for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Members

Sir Jamas Hill
Bryan Colling
Ly Barreti
Sir Nick Weller
Dawvid Clayton

Trustees

Mike Blackburn O8E = Chair, Trust Board
John Bowers MBE = Vice Chair, Trust Board
Brent Fitkpatrick MBE — Chair of Finance Cornmites

Kuldip Mijjar = Chalr of Awdit and Risk Committee [resigned as trustee and Chair of Audit and Risk
Comsmittes an 31 July 2025)

Ruby Bhatti OBE

Hefen Therntan

Richand Tust

Robert Kendwell — (appointed Interim Chair of Audit and Risk Committes on 21 Dctober 2025)
Linda Magrath OBE

Sally BEenyon (resigned 10 July 2025)

Jarses Basron (appointed 31 January 2025)

School and college trust
leaders

Ludce: Sparkes — Chief Executive

Amanda Sleney — Finance Director [retired 30 June 3025)

Ebrima Barry — Interim Chief Finance Officer [1 Juby 2025 — 25 August 2025)

Lucy Bowman = Chief Finance OMficer [appointed 26 August 2025)

Clare Skelding — Executive Director; Education

lennifer Thompson = Executive Director: Devebogenent

Mark Harrison — Executive Director: Education

Faizal Musa = Chief Peagle Officer

Alistalr Burg Broguera — Exetutive Director: Capital and Estates (resigned 31 August 2025)
Robyn Ellis - Executive Director: Transformation, Operations Development and Chief of Staff
Tahmina Jahan = Executive Direttor: Communications

Tam Renfie — Exetutivie Director: Business Senvices

Daniel Carr = Executive Principal (serving during this period in the same role at Dxens Allerton Academy
until 26 Augest 2025)

Emma Steele - Executive Principal, Dixons Trinity Academy and Dioons Music Primary

lazon Patterson — Executive Principal, Dixons Trinlty Chapeltawn and Divons Unity Academy
Justing Qldham = Executive Princigal, Primary

Mark Rothery — Executive Principal, Dixons Sixth Form Academy

Natalie Brookshaw = Executive Principal, Secandary

Rachael Fidler — Executive Principal, Dixons Croxteth and Dikons Fazakerley Academy [appointed 14
Cetobher 2024)

Rarwan Hussain — Executive Pringipal, Dizons Brooklands Acaderny (resigned 31 Decermber 2024)

Richard Wilson = Executive Principal, Dikons Allerton Academy (serving during this period in the same
rofe at Dixons Kings and Dixons Cottingley Acadery untll 26 August 2025)

ludith Eidd — Director, Dizons Centre for Growth

Company Secretary

Katheyn Berrill [resigned 16 September 2025)
Claire Chidrey-Carn [appointed 13 October 2025}

Accounting Officer

Luke Sparkes, Chief Executive
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Dixons Academies Trust
Trustees’ Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Structure, governance and management

Our trustees (whao are also directors of the charity for the purpose of the Companies Act 2006} present thelr annual report, together with
the financial statements and auditor's feport, of Dixons Academies Trust for the year ended 31 August 2025. The annual report serves
the purpose of both & trustees’ report, a directors’ report and a strategic report under cormpany law,

Our trust operates academies for students aged 3 to 19 serving & catchment area in the inner-city communities of Leeds, Bradfard,
Manchester and Liverpoal, It has a school capacity of 15,205 and had a roll of 13,757 in the school census on ? October 2025,

a, Constitution

Dixons Academies Trust is 8 company lirnited by guarantes and an exemgpt charity. Its registered office is situated in England and Wales,
The cormpany was first established on 6 October 1988 The Charitable Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association (dated 28
farch 2018) are the primary governing docurments of our trust.

Our trustees are responsible for the charitable activities of our trust and are the Directors of the Charitable Comgpany lor the purposes
of company law. The Charitable Company operates as Disons Academies Trust,

Details of our trustees wha served during the year, and to the date these accounts are approved are included in the reference and
adminetrative details on page 3.

The principal activities and objectives of our trust are the advancement of education for public benefit in the United Kingdom by
establizhing, maintaining and developing hagh performing schools.

Qur schools are nationally recognised for offering an ambétious eurriculum undprpinned by a strong values-deiven culture and a relentloss
focus on the highest standards of student achieverment.

Our students meet and work togethes in harmonious and happy schoal communities drawn from all cultures and backgrounds across
our four cities. We befieve our students have a key role to play in the economic development and social regenaration of our cities in the
next generation and beyond,

b. Members’ liability

Each Member of the Charitable Company undertakes to contribute to the assets af the Charitable Company in the event of it being
wound up while they are a member, or within one year after they cease to be 2 member, such amount as may be required, not exceeding
£10 for the debts and Habilities contracted before they ceased ta be 3 member.

. Trustees' indemnities

There are no qualifying third-party indemnity provisions in place in respect of trustees, other than trustees and officers’ insurance, which
is In place.

d. Bethod of recrultment and appointment or election of trustess

The members of Dixans Academies Trust are responsibde for the appolntment of owr trust board, Trustees are responsible for the
appaintment of chairs of the local academy board,

All rustees and academy ambassadors are appointed based upan their contribution they can make to the development and future
success of our trust, Except for staff ambassadors, no trustee or ambassador receives remuneration foe their services other than
reasonable out of pocket expenses.

In order 1o keep the balance of skills and expertise on each local board, trustees eonsider any skills gaps and may approach individuals
{this may include parents) explaining the type of skills set or expertise our trust is booking for. Identified individuals will be invited to put
their names forward. In the case of parent ambassadars, if more than one parent expresies an interest, then it may be necessary to hold
an election within the parent body of the academy in question,

In order e find the people with the appropriate skills, there may be occasions where agencies are approached to see If they can help gur
trust to find potential trustees with the required skill sets,

A short application form will be completed, and the individual will be invited to meet key staff, trustees or members. If an sppointment
is made, the successful individual will receive an induction appropriate to their new role.

2. Policies and procedures adopted for the induction and training of trustees

New trustees are inducted into the working of our trust, including policies and procedures, at arranged meetings with our chief executive
with support from the head of governance. The training and induction provided will depend on the individual trustees’ skill set and
experience. Where appropriate, Induction will include training on educational, charity, legal and financial matters {with copies of policies,
procedures, minutes, budget plans, management accounts and other appropriate doousmentation),
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Dixons Academies Trust
Trustees' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

f. Organisational structure
& Our members define the abjects, purpose and ethos of the trust,

® Our trustees, who form aur trust board, have overall responsibility and ultimate decision-making autharity for all the work of the trust,
inchuding the establishing and running of schools and, in particular, each academy &5 a school. This s largely exercised through strategic
planring and the setting of policy. It is managed through the business planning, monitoring of budgets, performance appraisal, the
setting and monitoring of standards and the implementation of quality assurance processes.

s Owur brustees have the power to direct change where requlred to enswre that the object, purpose and ethos of the trust are met.

s The third tier of governance is made up of our local academy boards which are each accountable to the community that they serve.
They are tasked with meaningfil engagement with local stakeholders and provide our trustees with expert intelligence from the local
tigr to drive strategy. Each local academy board is respongible for & cluster of bwio or three academies in their local area.

= School and college trust leaders control our trust [ scademies at an executive level by implementing the policies lald down by the
trustess and reporting back to them regularky. The principals across our trust are responsible for the authorisation of ipending within
agreed budgets and the eppointment of staff at their academy, Some spending contral is devalved 1o members of the senkor leadership
team with financial Bmits above which a senior manager mwst countersign.

= |ndividual academy senior leadership teams include the principal, vice principals, assistant principals and the acadermy admindstration

manager. These managers are responsible for the day-to-day operation of the academy,

» To @sist trustees In thelr work, our trisst has established the three following sub-commitiees:

& Audit and risk committes
o Financé committes
o Remuneration committes

Our trust consists of the fallowing academies:

Beadermy Date Jainsd Typa

Divars City Academy Seprember 2005 Secondary

Dixons Allerton Academy September H03 All-through Academy
Dixons Trinity Academy september 2012 Secondary

Dixons Music Primary September 2012 Primary

Dixons Marchbank Primary lanuary 2014 Prirmary

Dixans Mchtillan Academy September 2014 Secondary

Dixons Manningharm Primary January Hi1% Primary

Dizons Kings Academy Jamuary 2015 Secondary

Dixons Trinity Chapeltown Academy September 2017 All-through Academy
Dixons Cottingley Acadenmy July 2018 Secondary

Dixons Unity Academy Detober 2018 Secondary

Diwgons Sixth Farm September 1019 Post-16

Dixons Farakerley Academy September 2021 cecondary

Dixans Broadgresn Academy Decembar 2021 Secondary f post-16
Dixons Brooklands Acaderny lanuary 2032 Secondary

Dixons Croxteth Academy November 20232 Secondary

Dixons Newall Groen Acadermy September 2023 Secondary

g Pay policy for key management personnel

Principals and other educational senior leaders are pald by reference to national leadership pay scales. Salary ranges are consistent
across our brust and are dependent on seniority of position and size of school. Our chief executive i on a salary agreed by the
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Dixons Academies Trust
Trustees’ Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

remuneration committee after benchmarking against similar-sized trusts. The remuneration committee meets annually to review all key
personmel salarles.

Trade union facility time

Dixons Academies Trust published its trade unlon facility time below for the period ending 31 Awgust 2025:

Relevant union officials

Wumber of employees who were relevant union officials during | Full-time equivalent employes number
the relevant period

11 11

Percentage of time spent on lacility time

Percentage of time Humber of employess
1k i

1% - 50% 7

51% - 99% ]

100% o

Percantage of pay bill pent an facility time

Provvide the total cost of facllity time £10,754

Provide the total pay bill E8S5,4591,384

Provide the percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time, | 0.013%
calculated as: (total cost of facility time/total pay bill) x 100

Pald tradie unlon activities

Time spent an paid trade union activities as a percentage of total | 1.10%
paid facility tine hours caleulated as:

[total bours spent on paid trade union activities by relevant wnion
officials during the relevant periodftotal paid facility tirme howrs)
% 100

Related parties and other connected charities and organisations
Our trust has connections with the following organisations:

* Trust board chair, Mike Blackburn OBE, is a director at The Growth Company and the Lowry Centre Trust in Manchester. He is non-
exetutive director for Transport for Greater Manchester and SilverScape. He is on the Advisory Board for Lumorous,

* Vice Chair of trustees, John Bowers MBE, Is a member of the Minerva Trust and of Great Marlow Trust. He s a also a governor of
Pembrokeshire College,

* Trustea and chair of the finance committee, Brent Fitzpatrick, is a member of Exceed Academy Trust and trustee of Pennine Acadernies,
Yaockshire. He is a director of Low Wave Ltd, Waste and Recycling Solutions Ltd, U4EA PLE, Shellhound Ltd, Lombard Capital Ltd, Vela
Technologies, Pondesmatters Ltd, Aboyne-Clyde Rubber Estates of Ceylon Ltd and Ocean Park Developments,

* Trustee and member of the audit and risk committes, Dr Ruby Bhatti OBE DL, is & non-executive director of Carlisle Business Centre,
Action for Business (Bradford) and Action for Community Ltd. She is a trustee of the Bradford Diocese Trust, member of Exceed
Academies Trust and chalr of governors at Wedfsan Centre, She is involved with Active Bradford Ltd, the Priestley Acadery Trust, The
Girlington Centre Ltd, Girlington Community Association and Bradford Youth Development Partnership,

* Trustee, Linda Magrath, is CEO of Laurus Trust and director of LMM Education Services Ltd,

= Trustee, Richard Tutt, is the director of secondary education at Astrea Trust.

* Trustes, James Barron is the Group Head of IT for Renold PLE a global manufacturing company

* Trustee, fobert Keniwell is self-employed at RBSV. Robert takes the role as safeguarding trustes,
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Dixons Academies Trust
Trustees’ Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

# Trustee and member of the audit and risk committee and the remuneration committee, Helen Tharnton, i Chief People Officer at
Independent Wealth Planners and a director of Stosh Ltd, IWP Holdings Ltd, Alex M Grant & Company Limited, Professional Wealth
Management Limited, HFL Advisory Senvices Ltd, Sutherland independent Limited, AGL Wealth Management Limited, Rixon Matthews
Appleyard (Financiad Services) Limited, Buchanan & Associates Financial Planning Umited, independent Wealth Planners UK Limited,
STOSHSpace Ltd, IWP financial planning Lvd, SWM-IFA Ltd, PP Hunter Hammond Ltd, Carnelian Capital Management Ltd, Encompass
Financial Management, Professional Wealth Management [Yorkshire) Ltd, IWP Advisory Group Ltd and Distingt Financial Planning

» Chief executive, Luke Sparkes, is a trustee of the Confederation of School Trusts [I5T), 5T Professional Development Ltd ard Teach
First,

« Marriber, Sir Mick Weller, is trustee at New Schoals Mevsork and sigs on the interim oversight committee of Beckfoot Trust, Hels a
member af the hsgociation of School and College Leaders {ASCL).

e Mamber, Sir larmes Hill, I3 a trustee of WW Spoaner Trust and Josegh Mutter Trust. He ls a trustee of Bradford City Mission Christian
Truwst and Bradford Anglican Cowncll for Social Ald.

& Member, David Clayton, is a director and sharehalder of RWS Holdings, Albora Technologies, Sofar Archive Lbd and FCS {UK] Ld. He iy
the chair of trustess for the charity, Changing Faces.

Any transactions with the above-connected organisations comply with the requirements set out in the Acaderry Trust Handbook.
Engagement with employees (including disabled persons)

Our trust continuously seeks to encourage the involvement of ity employees in its management through an annual conference, three
end of term events, cyclical executive updates and acadamy visits, weekly check-in meetings for leaders, and our weekly trust-wide email
newsletter: Team Dimons. In addition, we encourage employees to apply for membership of our shadow board where emerging issues
are discussed, and opinion sought. Employees are consulted on issues of concern to them through consultative meetings and are kept
Informed of spedfic policies directly by management. Regular surveys are undertaken to obtain feedback from employiis on & wide
variety of items, This feedback Is used to inform poficies and effect change.

Oyr trust will employ disabled persons when they are selected as sultable for the role through fair and nchesive recfuitment procedaed,
and every effort [s made to ensure they are given full and fair consideration. There are polickes in place (equality and diversity policy,
health and safety policy etc.] 5o that employees, who have been Injured or disabled during the course of their employment can, where
possible, continue with their employment.

During their employment, our trust seeks to work with employess, taking into account their personal circurmstances, to ensure
appropriate training, develapment and advancemeant oppostunities are avallable to enabbe them to reach their full potential. Our trust
has two employes resource groups (ERGs), one for anti-racisrm and one for newrodiversity and disability employee resource group,
ensuring colleague voice is heard and provides an bn inclusive lens on key decisions and policy development. Further ERGS are planned.

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business relationship with our academy trust

As the trust board at Dixons Academies Trust, we have a legal responsibifity under section 172 of the Cormpanies Act 3006 to act in good
faith in a way which would be most likely to promate our trust’s success for the benefit of its members as a whole, and to have regard
to the long-term effect of pur decisions an our trust and its stakehobders. This staterment addresses the ways in which, as a thust board,
wit carry ot this responsibility.

Promoting our trust’s succoss

Cur trust i5 strongly committed to serving areas in the North to transform the life chances of chiddren and thelr communities through the
highest-quality teaching. Dixons' academies serve areas with high levels of students eligible for free school meals and with special
educational needs and disabilities and are continually looking to expand to reach as many children as possible to improve thelr guality
of life. Strategic decisions are based on the long-term objective of growth for our trust, maximising the number of children whose life
chances can be imgroved,

Cour students and parents

As @ trust, wir put our students at the heart of everything we do. That Is part of our trust™s culture; the parénts of the students in pur
academies are continuously informed of the progress of their children and the safegearding measures In place to ensure the safety of
their children, We cormmunicate with parents through letters, telephone calls [ texts and emails to endure that they are constantly aware
af the activities of our trust, We organise parent-teacher mestingd and listen to parents’ concerns to improve the sendce we provide,

Our employees

Our trustess recognise that employees are fundamental and key to delivering the strategic plan of our brust, The success of our trust
depends on attracting, retalning and motivating its talent. We help to engage with cur employees by setting remuneration at a
competitive rabe compaced to national rates and providing a rigorous professional growth process, including regular coaching. All staff
also have access to an employes assistance programme (EAP)L. The EAP i a confidentiad counselling and Enformation service, which is
avallable 2477, to assist staff with personal or work-related problems that may affect their health, wellbeing and performande.
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Dixons Academies Trust
Trustees’ Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Dur suppliers

As a trust, we are committed to upholding the highest standards of integrity In all our business relationships with suppliers. We rely on
our suppliers to deliver essential goods and services = Including learning materials, catering. and food supplies to our individual
academses in a imely manner, which Is crudal to the guality of the service we provide.

We maintain open and transgarent communication with cur suppliers through emails, tailored supplier ferms and formal letters to natify
them of any updates o our terms and conditions. All suppliers have a dedicated communication channel theaugh which they can contact
our trist directly to report changes to their supplier accounts. These changes are actioned promptly to minimise the risk of payment
delays. Throughout the financial year we remained fully committed to prompt payment practices, supporting fair and sustainable supglier
relationships,

Qur regulatory funding partners

Our trust boand recognises the importance of angoing engagement with key regulatory bodies, including the Department for Education
(DfE), Local Authorities, and other government agencies. We malntain strong, transparent relationships with our donors and sponsars
through regular reparting, virtual meetings, and updates published on our website.

During the year, we complied with all finandial and non-financial obligations required by our funding partners, submitting timely reparts
and statutory returns. Our chief executive and school and college trust leaders continue to ensure that our trust operates in full
compliance with all regulatory and legal requirernents in the delivery of our educational services and related activities,

Qur planet

Our trust board is fully committed to reducing our environmental impact and promoting sustainability across our operations, Over the
past 12 manths, we have successfully completed the installation of LED lighting across all academies as part of our wider energy efficiency
strategy. We are also waorking closely with an energy consultant to identify and implement further improvements in building efficiency.

With rising energy costs, reducing consumption remains a key priority. Measures already being implemented include: earlier building
closures, overnight shutdown of IT equipment, enhanced insulation, and the replacement of heating systems with mare energy-afficient
alternatives. In addition, we dispose of waste responsibly and prioritise recycling wherever possible, as part of our ongoing commitment
to anvironmental stewardship.

Public benefit

Our trustees confirm that they have complied with the requirements of Section 17 of the Charities Act 2011 to have dee regard to public
benefit in determining the activities undertaken by our trust and have complied with the guidance isssed by the Charity Commission
relating to public benefit, Qur trust is keen to emphasise the public benefit provided by owr trust, which can be seen by the activities,
and performance putlined within the trustess’ report,

Strategic report prepared by our chief executive
About our trust = transforming education in northern communities

Our trust is bullt on an unwavering commitment o transform the Iife chances of childeen and their communities in the Narth, 'We
specifically serve areas with high levels of students eligible for free school meals and with special educational needs and disabilities,
focusing relentlesshy on outcomes for the most disadvantaged,

While Dfsted ratings are not our primary driver, they provide a widely understood measure of our impact. OF those inspected under the
single-word framework, five of our academies are rated Outstanding = including one sponsored from Special Measures and another froem
Requires Improvement. A further two have maintained Outstanding in all areas under the new grading system. Four are judged Good,
and one more has achieved Good in four areas with Requires Improvemant in one, a significant improvement from the Inadequate rating
that led to its re-brokering to Dixons. Two academies are rated Requires Improvement (one improved from Inadequate), and a further
one has progressed to Requires Improvement in three areas and Good in one, also improving from a previous Inadequate rating. One
academy is awaiting its first inspection under ouwr leadership,

Ultimately, our success is defined by ensuring our students leave us as kind, considerate, courteous, articulate, and confident young
peapie, with the door-opening swtcomes that create meaningful life cholces.

Dixens was founded around the high-performing Dixons City Academy, one of the first city technology colleges that formed the early
bluegpeint for the academy programrme. This legacy informs our approach today: ane-third of our schools are brand new start-ups under
the free school programme, while two-thirds are turnasounds adopted from failing predecessors in Special Meatures.

We currently cater for children aged 3-19 across 16 schooks and one college in the inner-city communities of Leeds, Bradford,
Manchester, and Liverpool. This includes 11 secondary schools, three primaries, two all-through schools, and a sixth form college. Our
triast now serves over 14,000 students, supported by around 2,000 staff, with a budget of over E120m.

This purposeful grewth continues. Over the next three years, we plan to expand our hubs along the MB2 corridar. We are in advanced
discussions to merge with a small trust in Greater Manchester and are progressing with two successful free school bids in Manchester,
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Dixons Academies Trust
Trustees’' Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

with ane slated to open in September 2028, We are also explosing further oppoctunities with the DFE. This trajectary is set (o expand
the nember of students we serve ta over 20,000,

Why dio we exist?

Our trust™s mission is to chaflenge educational and sacial disadvantage In the Mosth, All of our schools serve areas of deprivation and
communities with higher levels of free schoal meals than the national average. By the age of 18, we want every student to have the
chaice of university or a high-quality apprerticeship.

How do we behawva?

We are a values-driven organisation, and ouwr schools are communities with a strong sense of moral purpose. Wi are universally aligmed
to our behavioural expectations: we work hard on the things that matter, with humdity; we are good and kind; we are motivated by
reastery, autonomy and purpose,

What do we do?

Within our commamnities, we work together 1o establish joyful, rigorous, high performing schools and colleges, which masimise
attainment, value diversity, develop character and build cultural capital. W are ambitious and make no excuses based on our students’
backgrounds, Al students are expected vo make cutstanding progress that will enable them to sucoeed in further or higher education
and in the warld of work, We spend more on teaching than other trusts and cut costs elsewhere, harnessing approaches which are
infgwative to aur sector to do so. Our extended school week offers students more time in the classroam, as well & mere opportunities
to broaden their horizons and engage in a wides range of co-curricular experiences, We see diversity & a strength and want all stwdents
to value, and to learn from, the diversity around thems.

Heerar willl we succeed?

Talent Is the first of our strategic anchors and one strand of our strategic plan. The ongoing need to ensure that our peaple-brand Is as
atvractive as our educational brand ks as urgent as ever. Our sector particularly has an issue of recruitment and retention and, although
wie fare better than many other trusts, it is vital that we recognise that we rmiust recrult, retain and motivate talent in order to continue
ta challenge educational and social disadvantage; our 9-day fortnight for educators has shawn a 43% reduction in staff turnover and a
9% redhection in sickness absence among teaching colleaguwes.

The second of our strategic anchars is academic rigour because we believe that children need powerful knowledge to understand and
interprer the world: without it they remain dependent wpon those who have it. Powerful knowledge is cognitively superior 1o that
needed for daily life, transcending and Eberating students from their daily experience. Our curriculurm is designed to be remembered,
and is led by, collaborated on, and delivered by high-quality subject specialists. It is owned by students from all faiths and backgrounds
and is the entitlernent of all: we resist parental opl-outs.

Our operating model of aligned autonomy continees to enhance gur agility and strength. We are aligned because we all share the same
mission and values: because we want all Dixons students and staff to benefit from our best collective practice; betause we all benedit
fram the collective Dixons resources, brand and reputation; because cential semvices became simpler to deliver and more efficient; and
because growth can be better contralled, supported and managed. We value autonomy because leadership and personal accountability
are founded on ownerihip and sell-direction; because conformity kills Innovation and drives away the best staff; and because
standardsation falls to respond to changing needs and fails to adapt to a changing enviranmient. Therefore, we seek to find the optimal
balance bebwesn convistency acrods aur acadermies and self-determination by their leaders,

Educational performance

We serve communities hit hardest by the decimation of local services, economic instability, and the lingering impacts of the pandemic.
While ewery school faced disruption — such a8 a8t summers's GCSE cohort, who began Year 7 In September 2020 after a severely disrupted
transition — the impact was not equally felt. Our communities, with higher concentratians of children living in poverty, have struggled
maost to recover. Early national data for 2024425 points to 8 further widening of the disadvantage gap and growing reghonal disparities,
underscoring this deepening challenge. In this context, where school is often the last trusted institution, we are deepening our
collaboration with families b tackle intractalle attendance issues and ensure children are in school and learning.

Our trust deliberately comprises schools at very different stages of development. This includes several that are early on a complex school
transfaormation journey, a challenge made significanthy harder In the post-pandemic landscape. We take on the schoals that need ws the
mast, and we have done 5o during a uniquaely challenging time.

Tha 202425 acadermic year was one of significant strategic progress and operational consolidation. While academic gutcomes did not
meet our exceptionally high internal benchmarks, they remain fairly strong against national averages, particularly at K52 and for
disacdvantaged students. AT K52, we saw our best-ever trust-level outcomes, narrowing the gap to just 1% below the national average.
AT K54 and K55, our schools with the furthest to travel made meaningful improversents, even If we did not see gains across all settings.
We recognise that school Improvement Is not linear, and we have more to do.

Crucially, wit hiavee built a powerful platform for sccelerated improverment in 202%/26: our trust now has owtstanding fimanclal health,
operational resllience, and a positive staff culture. Our foundations are stronger than ever a8 we remain committed to delivering the
long-term, sustainable irmprowement our mission demands,
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Dixons Academies Trust
Trustees’ Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Primary (K52): highest ever trust results, closing the gap

O prirmary phase has delvered our trust’'s highest ever K52 outcomes, closing the gag with the national average o just 1%. Thisisa
significant achievement, given our starting points are typically well below national, and demonstrates strong, trust-wide progress.
Attainrment in reading, writing, and maths [RWH] combined increased by 5.3% from the previows year.

A central sugcess has been the performance of our disadvantaged students, who outperformed the national average for this group (53%
ws. A7%), demanstrating the effectiveness af our targeted equity strategies, This was exemplified at Dixons Manningham and Dixons
harchbank, where disadvantaged students outperformed thelr non-disadvantaged peers.

This progress was driven by strong performances acrods our schools:
# Four of pur five primaries improwved their combined RWM results, with three now meeting or exceeding the natlonal standard,

# Dixons Marchbank sustained a high level of performance for the second consecutive vear, with 0% of stedents meeting the expectid
standard in reading.

# Diwons Manningham showed remarkable improvement, with an 18% increase in combined RWM and a 15% rise in writing.
# Significant gains in reading were also seen oy Docgns Music Primary and Dixons Allerton, which grew by 17% each.

‘While writing cwtoames were n line with the national average, maths kas emerged a5 2 key limiting factor and a primary focus for the
year ahead. With only one primary school achipving above the national average In maths, accelerating progress in this subject i aur
critical next step for further closing the owerall attalnment gap.

Secondary and tertiary: turnaround improvement and resilience

Qur secondary phase demonstrated resilience and pockets of strong Imprevement, particularly in schoals on & clear wenaround
trajectory.

» Turnarownd success: key academibes showed significant progress. Divans Unity saw 3 10% increase in Basics 4+ and 3 68% reduction [n
ssspensiong, Dieons Crowteth increased its EBaco entry rate by over 40% and made the largest Attainment & gains for the second
COMPECULIVE YEarT,

® Equity in focus: disadvantaged students at seven of our academies outperformed the national average for Basics 5+, a key indicator of
closing the attainment gap.

& Asolid foundation: while Attainment B scores improved in anly three academies, internal baseline assessments show mproved student
progress from point of entry in many schools, providing a stronges platform for future published results.

In our tertiary phase, Dikong Sikth Form continues to excel,

# Applied course outcomes place the college in the top 5% nationally,

= A-Lével progress seores (Alps) remain strong and in line with the previous high-performing year,
= Tha atademy maintains a robust 92% student retention rate,

Improving attendance

Our focused efforts have resulted in improvements in attendance and behaviour, creating a stronger Foundation for bearning across our
brust. Key achisvernents for 2024/25 include:

= A D.5% increase in overall trust-wide attendance,
= A& 3.7% reduction in persistent absence, meaning 506 fewer persistently absent students.
= A [0, 7% reduction in severe absence, with 96 fewer severaly absent students, against a vorsening national tremd,
= Substantial gains In academdes recelving intensive support:
o Dimgng Crowteth: +5.2% attendance, -8.9% persistent absence
o Dimpnd Fazakerley: «1L.7H attendance, -5% persistent absence
= Owver 2,000 fewer days of learning lost to suspensions this academic year,
This collective progress provides an excellent platform for accelerating academic achievement in the year shead,
Cfsted: a sustained record of iImprevement

while we do not design our academies for eternal frameworks, independent endorsement of our approach Is abways welcome. Last
year, three academies had full inspections, two had ungraded Inspections, and ancther participated in & national pilot, collectively
demonstrating our sustained commitment 1o impagwvement,
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Dixons Academies Trust
Trustees’ Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Graded inspections: cefebrating tronsformation

# [Hxons Trinlty retained its Qutstanding judgement in all areas. nspectors noted, "The school sets exceptionally high standards. Puplls
are proud to rise to them.”

= Dixons Broadgreen achieved a 'Good' rating in four of five areas in its first inspection since being judged Inadequate and joining our
trust. The report opens, “This schaol has transformed for the betber since it joimed the trust, Leaders have worked tirelessly toimprove
the guality of education.”

= [Hxons Brooklands, which also jolned our trist from an Inadequate rating, was judged as Requirdng Improvement In three areas and
Good for personal developrment. Ofsted recognised that "Raised expectations are helping to change the school's culture... puplls'
eaperiences of school have lmproved conslderatly.”

Lingreded (nspections: endorsing progress ond excellence

= [ixpns City effectively maintained its Cutstanding jedgement, with inspectors reporting the school "is realising its aspiration to offer
pupili an exceptional education” and has “continwed (o improwe,”

= Dimons Allerton recehved & monitosing visit, with the report conlirming that key improvement initiatives are beginaing 1o show impact,

Contributing te the national landscape

® Dixons Mewall Green participated in the new frameweork live pllot, allowing us to help shape national nspection policy. Our fesdback
was sought at every stage, contributing to the national improvemant joerney,

Enrichment: expanding appartunity far all

& The Dixons Cup was expanded, with primary academies incheded for the first timee.

a 21 primary competitions were held (up from 2 the previous year)

o 63 separate competitions incorparated into the secondary cup

a The Diosns Athletics Champlonships hosted owver 900 athbetes at a reghonal stadium

2 The Collaboration Concert imvobeed 360 stedents rom nearly every acadery, fostering trust-wide belonging

o This programme ensures all students, especially the disadvantaged, have access to a rich and varled estracurricular offer

Centre for Growth

= Recrultment to our Figorous Dixons ITT programme has been posithve with 3 cobort of nearly 300 75% of our 2024/25 colort stayed
with our trust in roles as ECTs and 3 former trainees, who found posts outside our trust last year, have since retuerned.

¢ Our Centre for Growth continues to dediver on partnerships, including commissions to support partner trusts to develop thalr associate
coaching offer, the conclusion of a highly impactful partnership fscuting on systemic models for mobilising evidence literacy at scala
and the aggointment of our Bradford Research School Director as EEF Content Lead for implementation and Professional Deselapment
for 2025/26, enhancing his robe and our reach. The wark of many of our academies has been spotlighted through the EEF blogs or
exermplification this year, with a national awdience.

» Our Bradford Consortium has met &l its ¥P1s in regard to the early career framework programmes and aur NPQ offer a3 delivery partner
for Ambition Institute, 'We have trained 70 leaders on MPOs across thres trusts alongside BO ECTs and their mentors, The nput for
mantors on coaching ECTs deepens our coaching expertise,

« The training offer for associate staff continues to grow with 72 colleagues attending across & different programmes. 'We also now hawve
316 apprentices,

o Wi have worked with Ambition Ingtitute to delives & programme on student engagement to leaders in all our academies, bringing
insight from the contemporary research base on our drivers and implementation, This work will be nurtured in 2025/26, wtilising
student survey data, In partnership with bmpactEd, to establish impact and support diagnosis of ongolng areas for Improvement,

e Coaching capacity has been enhanced with the start of our EMCC [European Mentoring and Coaching Council} accredited programeme
for 21 colleagues, with a Team Coaching programme for 45 principals and business service sanior leaders delivered.

« The Centre for Growth provides a fulcrem for our ongoing work on Imgeroving Instruction, leveraging and disserninating our instrwction
pringiples, launched in 2024/25, our partnership with OneWorld, and our launch of Dixosn Digital hasting cross trust clarifying and
inspiring resources to enable enhanced autonarmy.

» The ongoing oversight of academy boaklets from the Centre for Growth continues to bring value for mongy, saving an additional E17k
with re-prints.

» Our operations development team, a new arm of our Centre for Growth, went live Tor Cycle 3 2024/25 as a product of the busingss
services transformation process. The purpose of our operations development team ls to deliver significant strategic projects and
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Dixons Academies Trust
Trustees’ Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

programmes. The team’s scope covers: developing operations strategy and policy; ensuring compliance through the team's seeking
assurance oversight of business services and trust office; shaping up operations strategy ready for delivery by partnering and guiding
business services and trust office; delivering on new projects; impraving and innovating on existing deliveny; sourting and reviewing
purposeful innovations 1o serve our mission. All members of operations development are a link and mentor for business servioes or
trust office with a mandate to suppart the development of Cof leads.

Dixons OpenSource (05, (5+)
= In 2024/ 25 our PEIA partnerships came to an end,

e We were identified and successful in our application for tao of our schools to become national behaviour and attendance hub schools,
Cur partnership work through this programeme commences in 2025/26.

* Similarly, we will be offering RISE partnership capacity to one school this year, with further discussions underway.

= We have three existing partnerships through Dixans Onsite, with interest remaining steady from new partners. We continue Lo lamit
the nurmber of 05+ partmers in order to cater to the work outlined above,

Civic responsibility, fundralsing and external impact

* Secured over E363k in targeted funding, including a £200k grant to co-locate NHS staff in hubs and £163k to ralse attainment at Great
Academy Ashton.

= Established eight community hubs canvening essential services, using direct parent and stedent voice to co-design support.

* Shaped national policy: our £DI lead influenced a national curriculum review, and our campaigning with Citizens UK expanded mental
health provision.

* Shared expertise for sector improvement: generated £30k from Dinons Onsite partnerships and partnered with local consultancy Agora
im Liverponl to reset community relations.

Transferming our operations: the business services transformation [BST)
= Delivered £1.154m in recurring annual savings, exceeding targets and enabling reinvestment in frontline education,
* Launched a new service defivery model via the TOPdesk system, handling over 105,000 service requests with 90%+ completed on time.

* Principal satistaction scores rose from 5.75/10 to 8.1/10, demonstrating dramatically improved service reliability and freeing leaders
to foous on education.

® Buit & sectorledding pracurement function, securing E100k savings on engrgy and moving to 100% renewable sources,
Innawation in working practice: empowerment and efficlency
s Launched the ‘9-day fortnight’ pilot, leading to a 38% reduction in staff enover and a &% drop In sickness absence.
* Pioneered new operating models inspired by principles of self-management, including:
o & 'circles” methadolagy to replace traditional hierarchies, empawering staff and reducing unnecessany meetings

o @ new digital Al steering commities (o govemn our approach to emerging technology
o these innovations have freed up significant capacity for our most senior leaders to focus on strategic priorities

Dixons Digital: creating a unified digital workspace

# Sucressfully launched our new digital platform, creating a single, intuitive hub for alk trust resources, communications, and apps.
+ Early feedback shows it has made acoess to resaurces and trust-wide news significantly easier for staff.

* This foundational praject is the first step in driving greater efficiency, collabaration, and belonging across our trust.

Going concern

After making appropriate enquiries, our trus? board has a reasonable expectation that our trust bas adequate resources to continue in
operatignal existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements. Further details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the statement of accounting policies.

Financial review

The respansibility for the monitoring and support of open academies Bies with the Department for Education {DIE}, which handles the
funding for all 4-19 educaticn.

Most of our trust’s income is obtained from the DFE and the Local Education Authority in the form of recurremt grants, the use of which
is restricted as defined by its Memorandurn and Articles of Association. The grants received from the DFE and Local Education Autharity
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Dixons Academies Trust
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during the year ended 31 August 2025, and the associated expenditure are shown as restricted funds in the statement of financial
activities,

Ouer trust also recelves grants for fixed assets from the Department for Education. In accordance with the Charities Statement aff
Recommended Practice, "Acoounting and Reporting by Charities’ [SORP 2019), such grants are shown in the statement of financial

activities as restricted income in the fixed asset fund, The restricted fixed asset fund balance is reduced by annual depreciation charges
awer the expected useful [e of the assets concerned,

For the year ended 31 Awgust 2025, our trust reported a surplus of £2.380 million (2024: deficit of £1.530 méllion). This surplus includes
transfers of EBATE for the IT refresh programme and £499k for the completion of critical estate capital projects, The improved financial
gutturn is primarily attributable o cost efficiencies realised through our Business Sendoe Transformation [B5T) programme and the
centralisation and streamlining of operational functions. Additional contributions to the surplus incleded the receipt of an unbudgeted
core sohool budget grant of £1.121 millien (Apr-adug 2025) and PNA funding of E358k for Dixons Unity Academy.

Total income for the year (excluding restricted fixed asset funding) was £121.7 million {2024; £112.7 million), reflecting growth in student
numbers and Increased funding through the CSBG, TRG, and TPECG grants. Total expenditure (before depreciation and capital transfers)
rase to E117.2 million (2024: £111.5 million), driven by pay increases and higher non-pay costs such as educational and operational
supplies. Despite sector-wide cost pressures, the operating surplus {before FRS102 pension adjustments) demanstrates a strong finandal
performance.

A5 at 31 August 2025, the restricted general fund [excluding pension Rabilities) was £7.344 million, and the unrestricted fund was £1.377
million, giving 8 cormbined reserve of £8.731 milllion, eguivalent to 7.17% of tatal incomea,

W are delivering 3 strategic capital expenditure programme acrods our estate and 1T, supporting long term assel improvement. We
aliocated £1.99 miflion SCA funding In 2024725 to complete key estate priority ensuring quality learning enviranment, The IT refresh
programme was fully delivered in 2024/25 spending circa £1.1 million, All assets oontinue 1o be used exclusively to support the delivery
of education and associated services to academy studeants

The net book walue of tangible and intangible fised assets a1 31 August 2025 was E138 million (2024: £140 million). Movements in
tangible fixed assets are shown in note 14 to the scoounts, The year-on-year reduction of E2.782 million was primarily due to annual
depreciation exceeding asset additions. The restricted fised asset fund is reduced by annual depreciation charges over the expected
useful life of the assets.

The Lacal Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) liability is reported on the balance sheet in accordance with FRS102. As of 31 August 2025,
owr brust reported no net pension labiliy (2024: £456k deficit], driven largely by improved financlal assumptions and a higher discount
rate. Al five FRS102 valuation reports indicate a net pension asset position before consideration of surplus restrictions. However, in ling
with accounting guidance, a £20.522 milllon surplus has been restricted to nil on the kalance sheet due to it being deemed Irrecoverable,
The employment and finance cost reflects a positive return of E722k [2024: £419k), Pension movernents are detadled in Mote 29. As
always, the pension liability remains underwritten by the government should a settlerment be required.

The balance sheet discloses cash and bank balances of E13.324 million (2024: £11.512 million). The Increase in cash balance Is because
of the additional grants recelved that were not fully expended in the year ended 31 August 2025, This cash balance includes £561k fund
balance for South BAC as disclosed in note 31,

Reserves and investment policy

Our trustees reviaw the reserve levels of our trust anmeally, This review enoompasses the nature of intome and expenditure streams,
the need ta match ncome with commitments and the nature of reserves. Our trustess have determéned that the appropriate level of
reserves, excluding restricted fixed asset funding, should be equivalent to at least 5% of total turnover. The reason for this is to provide
sulficient working capital to cover delays between spending and recefpt of grants and to provide a cushion to deal with enexpected
emergencies such as urgent maintenance. Cur trustees have taken the decision to centradise all reserves in respect of our trust.

A ak 31 August 2025, the total reserves of our trust excluding fixed asset fund and pension liability were E8.721m (2024: £6.341m)] of
wehich the restricted general funds were £7.344m (2024: E5.508m). The fund ratio as.a % of total income stands at 7.17% as at 31 Augist
2025, higher than the minimum limit of 5% as per the reserve policy,

Qur trust’s bevel of free fesenves (Total Tunds less the amount held in fixed assets and general restricted funds), as at 31 August 2025,
were E1.377 millkon [2024; £0.833 millken), The increase was supparted by higher investmant income E366K and letting income 280k,
The operating surplus of E2.380m [deficit 2024: £1.530m) represents 2% of total Income.,

Our trustees are empowered under the Memorandurm and Articles of Association to invest funds 3oross a wide range of nstruments.
Clur trust continwes to invest surplus cash £4.8 million via Flagstone, a multl-bank deposit platform, to manage risk and optimise returns
within terms not exceading twelee months. Additionally, £2 million has been placed in a Ueyds 92-day term deposit, and the trust utilises
3 sweep acoount that automatically transfers balances exceeding E2 million into an Instant acoess savings acoount o mayimise interest
Incarme.

Details of the funds held by our trust are set out in notes 19 and 20 of the attached financial statements.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The system of risk management is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks which effect the uncertainty
of achieving our trust's objectives and to evaluate the likellhood and impact of those risks being realized. The process also considers
how risks arg managed and whether they are deemed efficient, effective and econamic,

Prior to each audit and risk committee and trust board meeting, school and coflege trust leaders review the risk register. Facilitated by
the head of governance, this agile process involves assessing each risk against the board's appetite, determining necessary mitigation,
and scanning the education sector to identify emerging risks.

Our trustess have pisessed the major risks our trust is exposed to, particularly those relating to teaching, provision of facilities and other
operational areas of our trust including finances. Our trustées have adopted policies and procedures to mitigate these risks for the trust
leaders to implement and to repart to the audit and risk committes for any non-camplisnce.

strategic  education

The principal risk to achieving our objectives is the Failure for the K52, ¥53 and K54 cohorts to reach national levels of achlevement and
to recover to pre-pandemic results and attendance levels. Ta mitigate the risk, resources have been shewed to our mos vulnerable
academies, including support from senior leaders from aur most successful academies.

Finance and operations

In the long term, our trust has in place strong financial planning and a budget maximbsation strategy 1o ensure that educational neads
are met, S-year planning scenarics are in place to manage the uncertanties arsund grawth,

In the short term, falling numbers, owing to changing demographics and historical reputation in new locations, pose a risk to a small
number of individual schoals” finances. To mitigate the risk, different scenarios are being modelied, and potential staffing models are
being developed, Work is taking place in specific areas to build community links and to work with local authorities on th challenges of
PFL.

People

Our trust's success is very much dependent on recruiting, developing and retaining the very best people in évery position in our
acaderries and busingss services, One of the specific risks 5 the failure to recruit and promate an inclusive and representative workfore,
This can lead to a lack of diverse role models. To mitigate this risk, our trust has developed an equality, diversity and inclusion strategy
and has ralled aut training far a8l staff across our trust,

ataff retention remains a key risk, which we are proactively addressing by fundamentally increasing professional agency and reducing
righdity. Qur flagship initiative, the nine-day fortnight, is a sector-leading example of this. It was designed specifically to grant staif more
contral aver their time, directly meeting the expectations of a new generation of teachers and the post-pandemic working culture. This
s complemented by our professional growth coaching moded for all staff, which replaces outdated performance appraisals with a focus
on cultivating self-determination and professional development.

Safeguarding

The safety of students and staff is of paramount importance te our trust. Our trust places the highest importance on the safety and
wellbeing of students within our academies and central peam,

Cur acadernies are proactively engaging with complex sodetal challenges — including community safety, social deprivation, and rising
mental health needs - that directly impact student attendance and outcomes. To help mitigate these risks, we have launched a robust
trust-wide attendance strategy. Acentral pillarof this s our commitrment to establishing our schools as civic anchaors, We are sucoessfully
building and supporting community hulis in every city we serve, while deepening strategic partnerships with key civic actors like the NHS
and police, These hubs provide critical support and advice for families, ensuring our academdes are engines of community stab@ity and
ftudent Succnss.

Fundraising

Our trust does not engage in raising funds directly from the public and does not use a professional fundralser or consider fundraising
activity to be significant. Our trust has started 1o explore fundraising routes and will continue to monitor its sources of inceme. Should
it start to generate significant funds from fundraising activities, we will inform the fundraising regulator and take all necessary measur e
to ensure it comgplies with guidance issued,
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Streamlined energy and carbon reporting

UK greenhowie gas emissions and energy use data for the peried 1 September 2024 to 31 202425 2023/24
Bugust 2025

Energy consumption used to caloulate emissions (K'\Wh) 17,361,031 17,547,313
Scope 1 emissions In metrlc tonmes CO2e

Gas oML plhon 1,800.89 1,860.25
Cwmed transport = mini-buses 7.849 11.73
Total scope 1 1,808.78 1.871.98

Scope 2 emitsions in metric tonned O02e

Purchased electricity 1,294.80 1,487 .96
Seape 3 emissions in metric tonnes C02e

Busingss travel in employes-owned vehicles 39.80 3328
Tatal gross emissions in metric tannes CO2e 3.143.38 3.393.22
Intensity ratia

Tannes CO2e per pugsl 023 024

Qualificatlon and reporting methodology

We have followed the 2019 HM Governmant Ervironmental Reporting Guidelines. We hawe also used GHG Reporting Protocol =
Carporate Standard and have wed the 2025 UK Governmsent’'s Comversion Factors for Company Reporting.

Intensity measurement

The chosen intensity measurement ratho is total gross emissions in metric tonmes CO2e per pupil, the recommended ratie for the
sector,

Measures taken to Improve energy efficlency

We areé now seeing the benefits of the LED lighting installations funded by the Departrment for Education (DIE), which have been
implemented across all of our sites. These energy-efficlent upgrades are contributing to reduced electricity consumption and lower
AREBINE MANTenance casls,

Last year, we launched a review of the energy management systems in our older budldings to identify further opportunities for
irmgroving efficiency. The insights galned are now being used to Inform future investment and upgrade decislons:

Also, last year, we received gramt funding from Bradford Council as part of the Bradford Clean Ar Project, which enabled the installation
of clean air systerns in the majority of our Bradford academles. While these systerms have resulted in a modest increase in energy
consumption, they have delivered a significant improvement in indoar air quality, supporting the wellbeing of both students and staff.

We continue to take practical steps to support sustainablility, including lEmiting non-essential travel and encouraging staff to switch off
electrical appliances, computers, and other equipment when not in use,

Ouir brust remains committed to redecing its carbon footpring and is acthvely exploring further opportunities to enhance environmental
sustainahility across its operations.

Plans for future periods

We focus exclushely on areas of social and educational disadvantage, either by sponsoring twrnaround schools te address educational
failure, or by opening new (ree schools to meet growing demand. We are currently in a period of purposeful growth.

Our trust aims to achieve the highest educational outcames fior all our students as well as providing professional growth opportunities
foer ouir stalf so thar all our schools and college can continue to grow and become seli-supporting.

wWe will continue to budld upoan the educational swccess and fimancial stability of our schools and college through our three strategic
anchors: putting our peogde first, pricritsing academic rigowr, ensuring aligned automodry.

Each of our schools and college is at its own point on the journey of academy transfarmation and all work with escellence, resalve and
clarity. Part of that clarity comes from our comenitment to simplicity = we know our foous.
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We have refreshed our trust’s 2-5-year plan for 2025,/26 onwards, in the simple format which holds only four strands:
* Pioneer the next-gen workforce: Through owr talent and rigour, students win

® Deepen our imgact in the North: Purposefid growth; commumity ot the oo

o 51 the standard for children who need it maost: Top guteanes theough true inglusion

= Expart the Dixons Difference: From morthera roets to globol poertnerships

In order to achieve our 2-S+ear plan, we continue to work through a roster of big moves [breakout opporiunities thay are “hard to
reverse’] as part of our rolling strategic plan. Our strategic planning is agile and adapts to context regularly. Our plans are delivered
thraugh our operating system, known as circles,

Dur eurredt big moves {as at 31 August 2025):

* Coaching, implementation and teaching

# SEND

» Stancharcds

= Reading

= Joy and community anchoring

= Mext generation workforce

® Grawth: merger

We continue to work closely with the DE regions group to explore further opportunities as part of our growth strategy.

Funds held as custodian on behalf of others and agency arrangements

Cur trust receives 16-19 bursary payments from the Department for Education, Qur trust does not recognise this incorne a5 its own
income and pays out all monies received for its primary purpose to the refevant parties. Our trust signed an MOU to manage the funds
of South Bradford Behaviour and Attendance Collaboration. Monies received for South BAC are not recognised as income and we
disbursa all funds for its intended purpose to the relevant beneficiaries. Other than these two agency arrangements, our trust does nat
act as a custodian trustes on behalf of others,

Pension reserve

The presence of a pension serplus or deficit does not constitute an immediate realisable asset or labikty and does not mean the
eguivalent amaunt is already committed or no lenger available.

The presence of a pension surplus or deficit will generally result in a cash flow effect for our trust in the form of & decrease or increace
inthe employer’s penslon contributions over a period of years, Our trust is confident that it can meet the required pension contributions
fram projected future income without a significant impact on its planned bevel of activity.

The risk surrounding our trust's pension liability has been taken into consideration when preparing the annual budgets and, therefore,
our brust's reservies requirement will continue to be caloulated without setting aside a designated reserve Lo cover the pension liability,
Auditor

Insofar as the wrustees are aware:

# there is no relevant audit nformation of which the charitable company’s audibors are unaware

® the rrustess have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and
to establish that the auditer is aware of that inforrmation

This repart, incorporating a strategic report, was approved by order of our trust board, as the company directors, on 9 December 2025,
signed an its behall by

st

Mike Blackburn DBE
Chair, Trust Board

. iwnn Arwdema Traw -?‘E
Finpabered Dffice [mona City Acadeny, Ripkey Srvel. Braiond, West Yorisswe, B0S TRA Regrierad i Englad Mo, 00001 ANE
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Scope of responsibility

Ag trustees, we ackndwledge we have owerall responsibility for enduring that Disoas Academies Trugt has an effective and appropriate
system of control, financial and otherwise. However, such a system is designed to manage rather than efiminate the risk of failure to
achieve busineds objecthves and can provide anly reasonabbe and not absolute assurance against material misstatement of loss.

As trustees, wa have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in DFE's Governance Guide.,

O trust board has dedegated the day-to-day responsibility to our chief esecutive, 8s atcounting officer, for enswring financlal contrals
conform with the requirements of both propriety and good financial management and in accordance with the requirements and
respansibilities assigned to it in the funding agreement between Divons Academibes Trust and the Secretary of State for Education
They are alss responsible far reparting 1o our trust boasd ary material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control,

Governance

The Informatken on governance included here supplemants that described in the trustees' report and In the statement of trustees’
responsibilities. Our trust board has formally met seven tirnes during the year which the trustees consider adequate dee the delegation
of responsibifties to the sub committees,

The finance and audit and risk committees, which meet at least three times per year, are sub-cormmittess of our trust board. Their
purpose Is to assist our trust board in fulfilling its oversight respongibilities with regard to the management of our trust, They do this
through the reiew of financial projections, management accounts and balance sheet reconclliations and risk reglster to make
recommendations to owr trust board. In addition, Ehey révigw thie financial statements and accounting polities, receive and réview the
Internal and external auditors report and ensure that recommendations are actioned, and risk managed,

Attendance during the year st mestings of our trust board, finance committee and audil and risk oommities was a5 follows:

Mame Trust Board Audit and Rish Finance Committes
Committes

bike Blackburm OBE 77 .

lohn Bowers MBE &/7 .

Kuldip Nifjar 7 4/4

Brent Fitzpatrick MBE F = if3

Helen Tharnton 6f7 a/a -

Linda Magrath QRE 5f7 242 )

Salty Kenyon 1/6 . -

Robert Kentwell afy 3/4

Richard Tutt Trr -

Ruabry Bhatti OBE DL a7 274

lames Barron 2fa . /2

ko Lynch {associabe) (resigned ¥ February 2025) = i/2

John Holroyd {assoclate) - - 243

Bulie Ly [associane) - - fy
Conflict of interest

Trustees complete a declaration of interest form anmually in September. The information fram this form is collated into a register of
interests document which is then uploaded bo our trust website.

At every meeting of our trust boasd and its delegated committees, there is a standing agenda item where trustees are given the
appartunity to declase thelr interests in amy matters pertaining to the agenda. Our trust ensures that trusteses follow all rulas in our

governing document about canflict of interest and we review our policies regularty and disowss it with new trusbess,

s Ackdemas, Truy
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Dixons Academies Trust
Governance Statement for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Governance reviaws
There were no formal reviews of governance in the year ended 31 August 2025,

Clagse 1.10 of the Acaderny Trust Handbook where trustees have agreed to a local governance strecture which strengthens the
engagement with stakeholders, There is 8 process in place to ensure kocal intelligence is escalated to our trust board and responies
are cascaded back., During the year, the efficacy of the work of the lecal tler of governance was reviewed. The local governance
struckure is continuing to grow and develap with several academy boards now leading and suppoming less developed boards. A
condiderable amaunt of wark has taken place over the year to onboard new ambassadors and to induct them into the governance
struciure,

Review of value for money

A acoounting officer, our chief executive has responsibllity for ensuring that our trust delivers geod value in the use of pubfic resources.
The accounting officer understands that value for money refers to the educational and wider societal outcomes, as well as estates
safery and management, achieved In return for the taxpayer resources received,

Quer accounting officer considers how our trust’s use of ins resaurces has provided good value for money during each academic year
and reports to our trust board where vatee for money can be imgroved, including the use of bencthmarking data o by using a framework
whare appropriate, Dur accounting afficer of our trust has continued to deliver Improved valee for money during the year by further
developing procurement initiatives, and improving centralisation of support functions, where appropriate.

Financial governance and oversight

Our trust benefits from the provision of an ndependent internal audit service provided by BDO. BDO reports directly to the audit and
risk commities on all systems and procedures together with other areas identified in the 3-year internal audit programme e.g.
povernance, health and safety, safeguarding, risk management ete.

Our trust receives support throughout the year from its external auditors on compliance and accounting practices.

The finance committes feoived manthly management accounts and balance sheet repoets, Including cashilow statements and waeking
capital analysis, together with a detalled analysis of all significant variances. Compliance with the scheme of delegation is alsa
magnitared by the finance and audit and risk commdttees, which reviews the scheme annually.

Our trust board approves the budget each year bearing in mind the requirerment to achieve a balanced budget and to ensure that our
Erust Femaing & ‘galng concern’. Our trust board also receives and approves the trustess’ annual report and accounts together with
external auditor's managemant letter,

Better purchasing = ensuring value for money

O trust remaing firmly committed to schieving value for money i all procurement activities. Contracts and services are regularly
revdewed, appraised, and renegotiated where appropriate to ensure they continue to meet the needs of the brust while defivering cost-
affectiveness and quality,

Where benaficlal, we leverage purchasing consortia b gain econdmies of scale and reduce proturement costs. We continug to wark
clasely with the Crescent Purchasing Consastium (COPC), which has supported the development of a comprehensive three-yeas
procurement strategy and a centralised register of contracts. This framawork enhances oversight, enables better planning, and endures
full compliance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015,

This year, we further strengthened our procurement function by appointing a dedicated contracts and procurement manager, who
now leads on all trust-wide procurement activity. ‘Working in partmership with CPC, this role has been instrumental in coordinating
tendars across multiple departments, managing Contract rencwals, and driving procurement best practices,

Several tenders were undertaken during the year as exdsting contracts reached thelr natural end. These exercises were designed not
only to maintain complisnoe but also to imprave the overall quality and wvalue of contracted services. The new contracts secured are
eapected to deliver measurable sawings and operational efficlencles across our trust,

Through this structured and strategic approach, our trust continues to ensure that public funds are used efficiently, transparently, and
it @ way that supports both financlal sustainabllity and the delivery of high-quality education services,

Reviewing controls and managing risk

honthly budget monitoring reports are prepared for revéew by our trust™s head of finance and acadermy principas; appropriate action
Is taken to addrass any variances that may have @0 impact on the bedget out-turn. Our trust ensures that all surplus cash balances are
irvested in Inberest bearing accounts to masimise interest earning potential. Investment institutions are selected darchully to prowide
the most acceptable balance of return and risk.

1% Dimsr A et Trsst il
Ragaisnid Dfoce [Maora Dby b wdemy Hipkey Sireed, Brafond Wesl sorksbes, B05 TRF Hegaasred o bnglend Ho @KL ;ﬂq-"



Dixons Academies Trust
Governance Statement for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

The purpose of the system of internal control

The system of Internal controf is designed to manage risk to a reasonable leved rather than to eliminate all risk of fallure to achieve
policies, aims and objectives; therefore, it can only provide reasonablie and not absolute assurance of effectivencss. The system of
internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and pricritise the risks to the achievernent of ouwr trust’s podicies,
aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood af thase risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and 1o manage
them efficiently, effectively, and economically, Our trust’s system of internal control has been in plage for the period 1 September
2024 to 31 August 2025 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial staterments.

Capacity to handle risk

Cur trust board has réviewed the ey risks 1o which our trust is exposed together with the aperating, financial and compfiance controls
that have been Implemented to mitigate those risks. Owr trust board is of the wiew that there is a formal ongolng process for dentifylng,
evaluating, and managing our trust’s significant risks that has been in place For the period 1 September 2024 10 31 August 2025 and up
to the date of approwval of the annual report and financial statements. This process s regularly reviewed by our trust’s audit and risk
carmmittes and owr tnest board.

The risk and control framewaork

Owr trust"s system of internal control is based on a framework of regular management information and adméinistrative procedures
incheding the segregation of dutbes and a system of delegation and accountabdity. In particulas, it includes:

= pomprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems, with an anmeal budget and periodic financial reports, which are reviewed and
agreed by ouwr trust beard

= regular reviews by the finance committee of reports which indicate financlal perfermance agalnst the budget [ forecasts and of major
purchaie plans, capital works and expenditure programemes in line with the scheme of delegation

= setting targets to measure financial and other perfoemance
= clearly defined purchasing |asset purchase or capital Investment] guidelines
# |dentification and management of risks

Ouwr trust board has considersd the need for a specific internal awdit function and has appointed BDD after a successiul tender process
to carny out nternal scruting and the nature of work that they have been engaged to perform. This option has been chosen becausa
of the enhanced skills s61 of the auditors within BDO who can provide guidance and advice on a cross section of operational functions,
The internal audit function reports directly to our audit and risk committee,

The internal auditos's role ncedes giving adwice on financial and other matters and performing & range of checks on our brust’s financial
and ather systems, In particular, the checks carried out in the current period included:

= Governance: data protection compliance {asswranos)
» Operations: business services project (assurance}

# EDN: strategy and embedding [assurance)

& Finance: procurement (advisary)

* Fallow up 202334 audits

Om a regular basis, the internal auditor repaorts to our trust board throwgh the audit and risk committee on the operation of the systams
of control and an the dischange of our trust board™s financial responsibilities. On an annual badis, the Fuditor prepares  Summary
report to the committee outlining the areas reviewed, key findings, recommendations and conclusions to help the committee consider
Aclions and a55ess Year on year progress.,

Review of effectiveness

As accounting officer, our chief executive has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system af intermal control, During
thie year in guestion, the review has been informed by

» the work of the internal auditor
» the financial management and governance self-assessment or the school resgurce management self-assessment toal

= the work of the school and college trust leaders within gur trsst who have responsibdlity for the development and maintenance of
the internal contral framesark.

= the work of the external suditor

0 Dumaey Aoaderrary Trast ?‘
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Dixons Academies Trust
Governance Statement for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Based on the internal auditor's statement of assurance, the data protection complisnce offered a limited level of assurance. Despite
good practioe identified, the auditors noted that there was no record of processing activity (RoPA), which fasms the faundation of data
protection and governance.  The auditors noted that there were insufficient time and resource ourrently within the governance
department to implement these and the asdit and risk committee recommended that the production of the RoPA is outsourced,

The business services internal audit offered a substantial level of assurance lor bath design and effectiveness. They identified good
practice in refation to the implementation of the programmae indeding that the project planning and documentation were well
develogad and there was an effective change management process.

The EDI internal audit offered a substantial level of assurance for both design and effectiveness. The auditors reported that our trust
has developed a comprefhensive ED9 strategy, focussing on three key piltars: culture, régresentation and curdiculum, Cwver the past
academic year, there has been progress in advancing our EDI agenda, The anti-racism crass cutting team has been a sector leader and
there has been a focus on embedding EDN across all aspects of our trust's organisation. Good progress has been made towards
implernenting the strategy with staff receiving tallored EDI training. There were two limited findings of not having a comprehensive
document o track overall progress of the EDI strategy and that the EDI policy required improvement and updating.

The recent procurement internal audit provided a moderate level of assurance regarding the design and implementation of
procurement processes and the effectiveness of associated controls, The auditors concluded that, overall, a sound systern of internal
cantrals is in place to support the achievement of procurement objectives.

While areas of good practice were noted, theee indings were raised: one of medium significance and two of low significance.

The medivm significance finding relates to supplier spend monitaring. Currently, there are na farmal controls in place to prevent the
disaggregation of spend that could bypass procurement threshalds, nor are there mechanisms to monitor supplier spend increases
when they are likely 1o exceed thresholds, To address this, we are implementing a new finance system that will enable tracking of
ageregated supplier spend across all contracts. The system will alsa include automated alerts when spending approaches procuremant
threshalds, strengthening ow compliance and oversight,

The first ke significance finding recommended updates to the tendering and grocurement palicy, specificaliy:

» glearky defining roles and responsibilities for the input and malntenance of the contract register

= including a requirement to set a minimurm of three key performance indicators (KPs) for contracts valued over £5 millipn
= clarifying who within our trust has the authority to raise purchase orders o requeest woarks

These practices are already being followed in practice; however, the policy will be updated to formally reflect them, ensuring
consistency and clarity,

The secand lpw significancg finding related to the contract register. The internal suditors recommended a thorough review to ensure
it is complete and current, alongside the establishment of formal contrals for its ongoing maintenance, They also suggested evaluating
whether contracts valued below E50k should be included In the register. The procurement and contracts manager has already

commenced this review and is actively updating the reglster to ensure scguracy and cormpleteness, while putting in place appropriate
controls for s egntinweed upkess.

Our accounting officer has been advised of the implications of the review of the system of internal contral by our finance, and awdit
and risk committess. As detadled above, a framework for the continuous improvement of these contrals Is now In place.

Based on the advice of the audit and risk comméttee and our accounting officer, our trust board i of the opinion that the academy
trust has an adequate and effective framework for gevernance, risk management and contral,

Approved by arder of the members of our trust Board on 9 December 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

it b Lo~

Mike Blackburn OBE Luke Sparkes
Chair, Trust Board Chiefl Executive
Accounting Officer
11 Dimpre Bomdemasy Frusl

Eegungopd Dfars. [uons Lify Acudemsy, Riply Tireel, Bradiord, W Yorksles, BIS THA Begelersd n Eagard Ho 3000080



Dixons Academies Trust
Statement on Regularity, Propriety and Compliance for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

A5 accounting officer of Dinons Acadernies Trust, | confirm that | hase had due regard to the framework of authorities governing
regularity, propriety and compliance, including the trust's funding agreement with OFE, and the requirements of the Academy Trust
Handbaok, intluding responsibilities for estates safety and management. | have slso considered my responsibility to notify our academy
trust board and [ME of material irregularity, impropriety and non-compliance with terms and conditions of all Funding, including far
estates safety and management.

I confirm that I, and owr trust board, are able to identify any material irregular or improper wie of all funds by the acadermy trust, or
material non-compllance with the framework of authorities.

I confirm that no instances of rmaterial irregularity, imprapriety or noa-compliance have been dscovered to date. If any instances are
identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to our trust board and DFE,

[~

Luke Sparkes
Accounting Officer

9 December 2025
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Dixons Academies Trust
Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Or trustess {who are also the directors of the charltable company for the purposes of company law] are responsible for preparing the
trustees’ report and the financial statements in accondance with the Academies Accounts Direction published by the Education and
Skills Funding Agency, United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice] and applicable
lawr and regulations,

Company law reguires our trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under company law, ouwr trustees mast not
approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a tree and fair views of the state of affalrs of the charitable
comparry and of its iIncoming resaurces and application of resources, intluding its income and expenditure, for that period. In preparing
these financial staternents, our rusteées are required fo:

» select suitable accounting polickes and then apply thern consistently
» ghserve the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2024 to 2025
= make judgments and atcounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent

# state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained
in the finandial statemants

» prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presurme that the charivable comparny will
continue in busingss

Dur trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are suffficient to show and explain the charitable company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable scouracy at any time the financial position of the charitable compary and enable them to
ensure that the finandal statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of
thi charitabile camgpary and hance for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of frawd and other irregularities,

Our trustess are respansible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies financial and other controls,
which confarm with the requirements both of propriety and of good financial management. They are also respansible for ensuring
grants received from DFE have been applied for the purposes intended.

Our trustees. are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the charitable
company’s webdite, Legiskation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statemeants may differ
from leglslation In other jurisdictions.

Approvied by order of the members of our trust board on 9 December 2025 and signed on its behalf by

m‘gcﬁém

Mike Blackburn OBE
Chalr, Trust Board




Dixons Academies Trust
Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements to the Members of Dixons Academies
Trust

Dpinion

Wie have audited the financial statements of Dixons Academies Trust (the "acadermy vrust’) for the year ended 31 August D025 which
comprise the statement of financial activities, the balance sheat, the statement of cash fiows and the related notes, including a
summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framewoark that has been applied in their preparation is applicatle
lzw, United Kingdom Accounting 3tandards {United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice], including Financial Reporting
Standard 102 'The Finandal Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of ireland’, the Charities SORP 2019 and the
Academies Acoounts Direction 2024 to 2025 lssued by the Department for Education,

In pwsr opinion the financial statements:

» give a true and fair view of the state of the academy trusts affairs as a1 31 Avgust 2025 and of its incoming resources and application
of resouwrces, Incleding its income and expenditure for the year then ended

= have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdorn Generally Accepted Accaunting Practice

+ have been prepared In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies
Accounts Direction 2024 o 2025,

Basis for opinion

Wi conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK] [15As (LK) and applicable law. Our responsibiities
under those standards are further described In the auditors’ respansibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our
repart, We are independent of the scademy trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statersents in the United Kingdom, including the Finamtial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We belisve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting In the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate,

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertaintied relating to events af conditions that,
individualhy or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the academy trust’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at
least twober months from when the nancial statements are authorized for isoue.

Our responsibiities and the responsibilities of the trustees with reipect to gaing concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report,

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditors'
report therean. The frustess are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the ather information and, except to the exten otherwise explicithy stated in our report, we do not espress
any form of assurance conclusion thereon, Our respansibility is to read the other information and, In doing so, consider whether the
other information Is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obigined in the course of the audit, ar
otherwize appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are
required to determine whether this gives rise to a2 material misstatement In the firancial statements thermsalves. 1T, based on the work
wi have performed, we canclude that there is 8 matesial rmistatement of this ather infarmation, we are required to report that fact.

Wiz have nothing to repart in this regard,

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companles Act 2006
In aur apdnion, based an the work undertaken in the course of the audit;

¢ the information given in the trustees’ report including the strategic repoart for the financial wear for which the financal statements
are prepared |s consistent with the financhal statem=ants

« the trustees’ report and the Strategic report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements
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Dixons Academies Trust
Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements to the Members of Dixons Academies
Trust

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Iri the light of our knowledge and understanding of the acadermy trust and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have
not identified material misstaterments in the trustees’ report incheding the strategic repart.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Compandes Act 2006 requires us W report 10 you
if, im gaar opinign:

» adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited
by us, or

» the financlal statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
= pertain disclosures of trustess' rermuneration specified by law are nat made, o

= we have nat received all the information and explanations we require for gur audit

Responsibilities of trustees

As explained more fully in the statement of trustees’ responsibilities, the trustees {who are also the directors of the academy trust for
the purposes of company law) are respansible for the preparation of the finandial statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view, and for such internal control a5 the trustees determine is necessary 1o enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from materiad misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trsstess ace responsible for assessing the acadermy trust's ability to continue a5 & going
concern, disclosing, a5 applicable, matters related to going concern and ysing the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees
gither intend to liquidate the academy trust or 1o cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors” responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finandial statements a5 @ whole are free from material
misstaternent, whether due to fraud o error, and 0 Bsue an awditors’ report that incluedes our opinion. Rexsansbie adsurance (s a
high lewel of assurance but i not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1345 [UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

Irregularities, incleding fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with aur
responsibilities, outlined abowe, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, incduding fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, indluding fraud is detalled below:

Qur approach 1o identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-
compliance with laws and regulations, was as follows:

# we |dentified the laws and regulations applicable to the academy trust through discussions with management, and from gur
knowledge and eaperience of the sector

» wie focused on specific laws and regulations which we considered may have a direct material effect on the accounts or the operations
of the academy trust, intluding the Charities Act 2011 and the guidance issued by the DFE

® wa assessed the extent of compliance with the laws and regulations identified above through making enguiries of management and
ingpecting cofrespondence with the regulators

= wa identified laws and regulations were communicated within the sudit team and the team remained alert to instances of nan-
compliance throughout the audit.

We assessed the susceptibility of the scademy trust’s accownts to materal misstatersent, including obtaning an understanding of how
fraud might occur, by:

» making enguiries of management as to where they considered there was susceptibility po frawd, their knowledge of actual, suspected
and alleged frawd

» cansidering the internal controls in place to mitigate risks of fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations
To address the risk of fraud through managerment bizs and override of controls, we!
# performed analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships

= tested powrnal entries to Identify unusual transactiong
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Dixons Academies Trust
Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial 5tatements to the Members of Dixons Academies
Trust

= astessed whether judgements and assumptions made in determining the acoounting estimates set out in the accounting policies
were indicative of potential bias

= investigated the rationale behind significant of unusual transactions.

In response to the risk of irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we designed procedures which included, bt
e il Emited to:

e agresing financial statement disclosures 1o undertying supporting decementation
» reviewing correspandence with regulators and reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance
= gnquiring of managernent a% 1o actual and potential litigation and claims

Because of the inherent Bmitations of an audit, there & & risk that we will not detect all irregutarities, including those leading to a
material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation. This risk increases the more that compliance
with a law or regulation s removed from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to
become aware of instances of non-compliance, The risk s also greater regarding Irregularities occurring due to frawd rather than esrar,
a5 fraud involves intentional concealment, forgery, collusion, oméssion or misrepre<entation,

A further deseription of gur responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's
website at: www.frc.org.ukfauditorsresponsibilities, This description forms part of our auditors' repart.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the academy trust's members, a5 a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2005, Qur audit work has been undertaken so0 that we might state to the academy trust's members those matters we are reguired 1o
state to thern in an awditors' report and for no other purpose, To the Tullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or asseme
responsibility to aryone ather than the academy trust and its members, as a body, for our audit werk, for this report, or fos the opinions
we have formed,

Lesley Kendrew [Senior statutary auditar)
for and on behalf of

BHP LLF

Charterad Accountants

Mew Chartford House

Canturion Way

Cleackheatan

BD19 308
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Dixons Academies Trust
Independent Reporting Accountant’s report on Regularity to Dixons Academies Trust and the
Secretary of State for Education for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 23 Septembar 2005 and further to the requirements of the Department
far Education [[ME} as inclided in the extant Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting Accountants of Academy Trusts,
we have carried out an engagement to obtain imited assurance about whether anything has come to our attention that would suggest,
i all material respects, the expenditure dishwrsed and income received by Dixons Academies Trust during the year 1 September 2024
to 31 August 2025 have not been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and that financial transactions do not confarm to
the puthorities which gowern them,

This report 5 made sobely to Disons Academies Trust and the Secretary of Stare for Education In sccordance with the terms of our
engagernent better. Dur work has been undertaken so that we might state to Dixons Academies Trust and the Secretary of State for
Education those matters we are reguired to state in a report and for no other purpese. To the fullest extent permitbed by law, we do
et accepl af assume responsibility o anyone ather than Dixons Academies Trust and the Secretary of State foe Education, for our
work, for this report, or for the condlusion we have formed,

Respective responsibilities of Dikons Academies Trust's accounting officer and the reporting accountant

The accounting officer is respongible, under the requirements of Dixons Academies Trust’s funding agreement with the Secretary of
State for Edwecation and the Academy Trust Handbook for ensuring that expenditure disbursed, and Income received is applied for the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform 1o the authorities which govern them,

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession's ethical guldance and are to obtain
limdted assurance and report In accordance with our engagement letter and the requirernents of the extant Framework and Guide for
External Auditers and Reparting Accountants of Academy Trusts, We report to you whether anything has come to our attention in
carrying out our work which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure disbursed, and income received during the year 1
September 2024 to 31 August 2035 have not been applied fos the purpeses intended by Pardiament or that the financial transactions
do not conform to the authorities which govern them,

Approach

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Framewaork and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting Accountant of
Academy Trusts issuad by DFE, which reguires a limited assurance engagement as set in our engagement letter.

The abjective of & limived assurance engagement is 1o perform such procedures as to obtain infarmation and explanations in order to
provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on regufarity.

A limited assurance engagement is more Hmited In scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and condequently does naot enabia
us to abtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in a reasonable assurance
engagement, Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinlon.

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety of the academy trust’s
income and exgenditure.

The work wsdertaken to draw our conclusion includes:
e checking that the academy trust's activithes are consistent with its framewaork and its charitable objectives

» checking that the trustees and key staff have disclosed their interest in related parties, discussing the same with management and
reviewing transactions during the period for endisclosed related party transactions

» checking that any related party transactions during the period are conducted at normal commercial rates
» checking that academy trust expenditure is permitted by its funding agreement
= checking that any borrowings enbered into, including beases, are in accordance with the Academy Trust Handbook 2034

# checking that any kand and bullding transactions especlally disposals are in line with the funding agreement and Academy Trust
Handbook 2024
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Dixons Academies Trust
Independent Reporting Accountant’s report on Regularity to Dixons Academies Trust and the
Secretary of State for Education for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Conclusion

In the course of our work, nathing has come to our attention which suggests in all material respects the expenditure dishursed and
income received during the year 1 September 2024 to 31 Augwest 2025 has not been applied for the purposes intended by Pasliament
or that the financial transactions do not confarm o the authorities which govern them,

IA——

Lesley Kendrew {Reporting Accountant)
for and an behalf of

BHFLLP

Chartered Accountants

Mew Chartlord House

Centurion Way

Cleackheaton

BD1D 308
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Dixons Academies Trust
Statement of Financial Activities for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

finclwding fncome and Expenditire Accownt omnd Statemant ef Total Recagnised Gaing ond Losies)

Mote Unresiricted  Restricted  Restricted Total Total
fuinvds general finarel 2025 2034
EOO0 funds assef E000 E0DD
000 fumds
£
Income and endowments fram;
Donatsoans and capitad grants E | 13 - 2. T 2819 4,167
Charitable acthvitles:
- Funding for the trust’s
educational operations 4 1.652 118,296 - 130,548 112,151
Other trading activities 5 37 - - 373 366
IFvestrments B 367 s = I67 95
Total 3415 118,296 2. 7196 124,507 116,779
Expenditure on:
Charitable activitles: trust educational
oparations T 2871 114,352 5,934 123 1E7 117,115
Total 2871 114, 3492 5,924 133, 1E7 117,115
Met income Sdd 3,904 {3,12E) 1,320 [33E)
Transfers batween funds 19 - {1,346] 1,346 -
Other recognised gains/[losses):
Actuarial {losses)fgains on defined
benefit pension schemes 19, 2% - {266) - {26E) {396E)
Net movermnent in funds S44 2,202 {1,782) 1,054 [732)
Reconciliation of funds
Total funds brought forward 333 5,052 140,770 146,655 147,387
Tatal funds carried forward 1,377 7,344 138,988 147,709 146,655

Al pur trust’s activities derive from continuing operations during the abowve two financial periods.
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Dixons Academies Trust
Balance Sheet as at 31 August 2025 - Company Number 02303464

2025 2025 J0d4 2024
£000 £000 E000 £000
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 13 44 56
Tanglble assets 14 137,504 140,278
Current assets
Sk 15 124 194
Debtors 1B 7.3653 F.073
Cash at bank and in hand 13,324 11,512
__ 20811 —

Liabilities
Creditars: amounts falling dus within one year 17 (10,654) (12,002}
Met current assets 10,157 6777
Total assets less current liabilitles 147, 709 147,111
Met assets excluding pension lability 147,705 147,111
Defined benefit pension schamse Bability 19,29 - [45a)
Total et assets 147,709 146,655
Funds of the trust:
Restricted funds

= Fixed asset fund 19 138 988 140,770

= Restricted intome fund 19 7,344 5,508

- Pension reserve 19,29 - [45&)
Total restricted funds 146,33 145 832
Unrestricted income funds 14 1377 LEE]
Total funds 147,704 146,655

The financiad statemants on pages 29 to 53 were approved by our trustess and authorized for isswe on 9 December 2025 and are signed
on their behalf by:

A ﬁ:’{adﬁég,i

Mike Blackbum OBE
Chair, Trust Board
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Dixons Academies Trust
Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Cash flows from operating activities

Met cash provided by operating activities

Bet Cash flows from Investing activities

Change In cash and cash equivalents In the reporting perlod
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 September 2024

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 August 2025

MNates

4

&3

2025 2024
EDDD E000
1,788 1,489
24 (2,758
1812 (1,263
11,512 12,781
13,324 11,512

3
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

1  Accounting policies

A sumamary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied comsistently, except where noted), judgements and
key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation

Dimadne Mcademses Trust (s a private Bmited company limited by guarantee incorposated in England. The address of the registered office
is given In the reference and adminkstrative details given on pages 3 and 4 of these finandial statements. The nature of our trust’s
operations and principal activithes are set out inour trustess’ report on page 5.

The financial statements of our trust, which i3 & public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been prepared under the historical cost
comwention In aocosdance with the Financlal Reparting Standard Applicable In the UK and Regublic of Ireland (FRS 102], the Accounting
and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recormmended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in acoordance with
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of treland (FRS 103} {Charitles SORP [FRS 102)), the Academies
Accounts Direction 2024 to 2025 lssued by OME, the Charities Act 2001 and the Companies Act 2006,

The financial statements are prepared in stecling, which is the functional currency of our trust. Monetary amounts in these finandal
staternents are rounded to the nearest £1,000.

1.2 Fund accounting

Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting ary of the charitable objects of our trust at
the discretlon of our trustees.

Restricted general funds are resources subject to specfic restrictions impased by funders or donars and include grants from the
Department for Education.

Restricted fived assets funds are redources which @re 1o be applied to specific capital purpases imposed by the Department for
Edcation and other funders, where the asset acquired or created is held for a spedfic purpose on a contineing basts.

1.3  Incoming resources

All iNCOMING resourcEs arg I'Ei:l:lﬂﬂil-td when ouwr trugt has entitlement 1o the :l'unl;l:, gortainty of receipt and the amount can be
measured reliably,

Grants ane incheded in the staterment of financial activities on a receivable basis. The balance af income receiviesd for specific purposes
but not expended during the pericd i shown in the relevant funds on the balance sheet. Where income Is received in advance of
reeting any performance-related conditions, there ks not unconditional entitlement to the incorme, and its recognition is deferred and
i included in creditoes as defermed income until the performance-related conditions are met, Where entitlement oocurs before income
in received, the income is accrued and is included in debtors as accreed income.

The general snnual grant (the GAG'] is recognised in full in the statement of financial activities in the year for which it is receivable,
and any abatement in respect of the period b deducted from income and is recognised as a Nabity.

Capital grants are recognised in full when there i5 an unconditional entitlement 1o the grant. Unspent amounts of capital grant are
reflected in the balance sheet on the restricted fixed asset fund, Capital grants are recognised when there is entithemant and are not
deferred over the lifie of the asset on which they are expended.

Other grants from government agencies and other bodies are recognised in the period in which they are recelvable to the extent the
condithens of fending have been met. Where income Is received in advance of entitlement of receipt, its recognition is deferred and
included in creditors as deferred incorme. Where entitlement atowrs before income is received, the income is accrued,

sponsorship Income provided to our trust, which amounts to a donation, s recognised in the statement of financial activities in the
periad in which it is recevable (where there are no performance-related conditions), where the receipt is probable, and it can be
measured rellably,

Donations are recognised on a receivable basiz (where there are no performance-related conditions) whers the receipt is probabde,
and the amount can be refiably measured. Other income, incleding the hire of facilities, s recogniced in the period it ks recefvable and
Lo the extent our trust has provided the poads o services.

Where assets and Rabilities are recefved on the transfer of an existing academy inte our academy trust, the transferred net assats are
rpasired at fadr value and recognised in the balance sheeat at the paint when the risks and rewards of ownerdhip pass to our academy
trust. An equal amount of income is recognised for the transfer of an existing academy into our academy trust within donations and
capital grant income to the net assets recelved,
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

1.3 Incoming resources [continued]

The value of donated services and gifts in kind provided to our trust are recognised at their open market value in the period in which
they are receivable in incaming resources, where the benefit to our trust can be reliably measured. An equivalent amaunt is included
as expenditure under the relevant heading in the statement of financtal activities, exscept where the gift &n kKind was a fixed asset in
wihach case the amount is included in the appropriate category and depreciated over the useful economic e in accordance with our
trust palicies.

Where the donasred good is a fixed asset, it s measured at fair vadue, unless it is impractical b measure this reliably, in which case the
cost of the item to the donar should be used, The gain Is recognised as income from donaticns and a cormesponding amount is included
in the approgpriate fixed asset category and depreciated over the useful economic life in aocordance with our trost’s policies.

1.4 Espenditure

Expnditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a third party; it & probable
that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably,
Expanditure is classified by activity, The costs of each activity are made up of the total of direct costs and shared costs, including
supgort costs imvolved in undertaiking each actheity. Direct costs anributable to & single activiy are allocated directly to that activity.
Shared costs which contribute to more than one activity and shared costs which are not attributable to a singhe activity are apportioned
between those activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources. Central staff costs are allocated on the basis of time spent
and depreciation charges allocated on the portion of the assets’ use,

Charitable activities and Governance costs are incurred on our trusts” educatisnal operations, including suppart costs and costs relating
to the governance of gur thust appertioned vo charitable activitied

All resgurces expended are inclusive of irfecoverable VAT,

1.5 Golng concern

Our trustees aisess whether the use of going concern is appropriate Le. whether there are any material uncertainties related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of ow trust to continue as a going concern. Our trustees make this
assessment in respect of & period of at least one year fromn the date of authorisation for issee of the finandial statements and have
concluded that our trest has adeguate resources to contimee in operational existence for the foreseeable future and there are no
material uncertalnties about aur trust Lo CORtinee a4 a podng conderm, thus theéy cantinee 1o adopt a going concern basis in preparing
thie finandisl staterments.

L& Intangibbe fixed sssets and amortisation

Intargible assets costing E2,000 or more are capitalided and recognised when future sconomic benefits are probable, and the cost or
value of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are Initially recognised at cost and are subsequently measured at cos
riet of amortisation and any provision for irmpainment.

Amortisation is provided on intangible fixed assets at rabes caloulated to write off the cost of each asset on a stralght-line basis over its
expected usaful life, as follows:

= Purchased computer software 25%

1.7 Tangible fixed assets

Assets costing £2,000 or more and with a useful life of more than three years are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are carried o
cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment,

Where tangihle fived assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the gowernment or fraem the private sector,
they are included in the balance sheet at coit and depreciated over their expected useful economic life. ‘Where there are specific
conditions attached to the funding reguiring the continued wse of asset, the related grants are oredited 1o a restricted fived asset fund
in the statement of financial activities and carried forward in the balance sheet, Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged directhy
to the restricted fixed asset fund In the statement of financial activities. Where tangible fixed assets have been seguired with
unrestricted funds, depreciation on suth asets is charged o the unrestrictad fund.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fiwed assets other than freehobd land and assets ender construction, at rates caloulabed to write
olff the cost of each asset on a straight-line basiz over its expected useful life, a5 folloes:

o Freshobd land Mil

s Froghokd buibdings 1.67% — 10 straight line

s Leasehold Property 2% = 10 stralght Line

* Plant and machinery 10% = 20% straight line
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Dixons Academies Trust
Motes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

= Furnitare and equipment 10% - 2% straight line
= Computer equipment 25% = 33% straight line
= Kiotor Vehicles 25% stralght Lina

Assets in the couwrse of constrection ane included at cost. Depreciation on these assets is not charged until they are brought into use
andd classified to freehold land and buidings.

A review for impairrsent of a fixed asset |5 carried out if events o changes in circurmstances indicate that the carrying value of any fiked
asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls betweeen the carrying value of a fixed asset and their realisable value are recognised as
irmparments. Imgalrment bosses are recognised in the staternent of financlal activithes,

Software purchased independently of computers is incheded in intangible fixed assets in accordance with FRS 102,

1.E Interest receivable

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured reliably by cur trust, this is normally
upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the bank.

1.9 Stocks
Stocks are vabued at the lower of cost or net realisable value after making dee allgwance for obsolete or show-moving stock,

1.10 Debtors

Trade and ather debtors are recognised at the seitlerment amount after any trade discount offered. Prepayments are valued at the
amaunt prepaid net of any trade discount.

1.11 Cash at bank and in hand

Cash af bank and in hand includes cash and haghly lopued imestments with a short maturity of 12 months or less from the date of
acquisition or opening of the depasit or similar sccount,

1.12 Liahllities and provisions

Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance shiet date a5 a result of a past event; it s probable that a transfer
of economic benefit will be required in setthement and the amount of the settlement can be estimated reliably. Uabilities are
recognised at the amount our (rust anticipates it will pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received a3 sdvance payrments for the
goods or services it must provide,

Provisions are recognised wwhen our trust has an obligathen at the reparting date a5 a result of a past event which s likely bo result in
the transfer of economic benefits, and the obligation can be estimated reliably,

Provisions ane measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of
money is material, the provision is based on the present valug of those amounts discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that reflects
the risk specific to the [Bakility. The unwinding of the discount s recognised within interest payable and similar charges.

113 Leased assets

Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term, There were no benefits received as an incentive
1 g AN Operating lease contract.

Leasing agreements, which transfer to our academy trust substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset,
are treated as finance lBases.

#scots held under finance leases are recognised initially at the fair value of the leased asset or, If lower, the present value of minimum
lease payments a5 determined at the inception of the lease, The correspanding Rability 1o the lessor is incheded in the balance sheet
a5 a finance lease obligation. Assets hebd under finance leases are included in tangibée fixed assets and depreclated over the shorter
of the lease term and the estimated useful economic Efe of the asset and assessed for impairment losses in the same way as for owned
assats.

Minimum |ease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding Hability. The finance
charges are allecated to the statement of financial activities, ower the period of the lease, In proportion to the capital element
outstanding,
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Critical areas of [udgement

In preparing these financial statements, our trustees have estabilished the following areas of judgement are critical to our trust financial
statements:

Qur trust has entered into lease arrangements that have been granted prior consent by the Secretary of State for Education bLe.
(printers, photocopiers, water coolers, gym equipment's, minibuses e1c.). These ransactions are accounted for as operating leases
because our trust does not hold substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and, therefore, did not recognise as an asset In the
financial statements. This is disclosed in note 22 as operating leases,

Ower truest hias four academies where the buildings are subject to a contract under the private finance initiative (PRI This transaction
ks accounted for as a leasing transaction as our trust only enjoys the benefit of the premises subject to the restrictions under the PFI
agreemnt. Our prust does not hold substantially 8l the ridks and rewards af gremarship of the premises, and the property is, therefore,
accounted for as an operating lease. Conseguently, the premises are not recognised as assets in the financlal statements of our truss.

The annual charges under the PRl agreement are subject to a fixed formula but will vary over time, therefore, the annual charges are
expensed to the income and expenditure account n the year they relate to as this treatment is considered more appropriate than
recagnition an & straight-line basis,

1.14 Financial instruments

Qwr trust only has financlal assets and financizl liabiitles of a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments, Basic financial instraments
arg initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at their settlement value with the exceplion of bank loans
which are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

1.15 Investments

Irvestmants are carvied at cost. Our frustess” investment powers are governed by the Memorandum and Articles of Association and
albow aur trust to mwest In a wide range of investment vehlcles without restriction,

1.16 Tawation

Our trust s considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010 and, therefore, it meets the definition
of a charitable cornpany for UK corporation tax purposes. Accordingly, owr trust is potentially exempt from taxation, in respect of
income or capital gaing received within categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the
Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1953, to the extent that such Income or gaéns are applied exclusively to charitable purposes,

117 Pensions

Retirement benefits to employees of gur trust are provided by the Teachers” Pension Scheme ['TPS') and the Local Government Pension
Scheme ['LGPS). These are defined benefit schemes.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme, and contributions are caboulated to spread the cost of pensions over employees’ working lives with
our trust n such a way that the pension cost Is a substantially level percentege of current and future pensionable payroll, The
contributions are determined by the Government Actusry based on quadrennial valuations using a prospective unit credit method.
TP ks an unfunded multi-employer scheme with no underhding assets to assign between employers. Consequently, the TPS is treated
#5 a defined contribution scheme for accounting purposes and the contributions recognised in the periad to which they relate.

The LGPS 5 a funded muti-employer scheme, and the assets are held separately from those of our trust In separate trustee
administered funds, Pension scheme assets are measured ab fair value and liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the
projected wnit credit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high-guality corporate bond of
edquivabent tarm snd curfency to the liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance
date. The amounts charged to operating surplus are the cwrrent service costs, and the cost of scheme introductions, benefit changes,
settlermpnts, and curtaibments. They are included & part of staff costs, as incurred.

Met interest on the net defined benefit liability [/ asset ks also recognised in the statement of financial activities incorporating Income
and expendituie sccounts and comprises the interest cost on the defined benefit obgation and interast income on the Leheme asiets,
calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to discount the benefit
obligations. The difference batween the Interast income an the scheme assets and the actual return on the scheme assets 4 recognised
in other recognised gains and losses,

Aetuarial galns and bosses are recognised immediately in other recognised galns and lasses.

1.18 Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgemant

Estbmates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based wpon historical experience and other factors, intluding expectations
of future events that are belisved ta be reasonable undes the ciroumsiances,
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

Cur trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estsmates and assumptions will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actuad resull. The etimates and assurmplions that have a significant fisk of causing a material
adpustment bo the carrying amounts of assets and labilities within the next financial year discussed below,

The present value of the Local Government Penslon Scheme defined benefit Hability depends on a number of facors that are
determined o an dctusrial basis using a vanety ol assumptions,

The assemptions used in determining the net cost [income] for pensions indude the discownt factor rate. Ay changes in theses
gssumplions, which are disclosed in note 29, will impact the casrying amount af the pension liability, Furthermare, a roll forward
approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2022, has been used by the actuary in
valuing the pensions liabiling at 31 August 2025, Amy differences between the figures derived fram the roll forward approach and a full
actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability,

Critlcal areas of judgement

Qur trwst, in condultation with cur auditors, assesses whather any LGPS surplus should be recognised as a pension asset or whether
the surpduss should be restricted to some bevel or in total. FRS 102 section 2B.22 states a plan surplus can be recognised anly to the
extent an entity is able to recover the surplus, either through reduced centributions in the futere, or through refunds from the scheme.
The presence of a pension surplus or defict does not constitute an immediate realisable asset or liability and does not mean the
eguivalent amount &5 already committed or no longer available, Therefore, our assessment B nat to recognised LGRS surplus as a
pension asset but rathar restrct the surplus to nal,

1.1% Reserves and Investment policy

Our trustess have accepied the need for general lomg-term reserved to be maintained at a level approximately equal to 5% of turnover,
To help fund short and mediem-term investment, our trustees may transfer to restricted funds an annual variable sum up to a
raximum of 12% of government funds. This has not been necessary for the year ending 31 August 2025,

1.20 Redundancy and severance paymants

Whatre owr Erust has a constrective liability to make a redundancy payment, this is recognised as and when the liability arises,

‘Where our trustess have agreed that it Is in the interest of our trust to make a severance payment which is not contractual, this is
recognised as a liabiliog onoe the decision 1o make a payment has been ratified at a mesting of cur trust board,

1.21 Agency arrangements

Quir frust acts as an agent in distributing 16-19 bursary funds from DfE. Payments recetved from DIE and subsequent dishursements
to students are exchuded from the statement of financial activities a5 our trust does not have control over the charitable application of
the funds, Owr trust can use up to 5% of the allocation towards ks own adminlistration costs and this & recognised in the statement of
financial activities. The funds received and paid any balances held are disclosed nnote 31,

2  General annual grant [GAG)

Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, our trust ks not subject to limits on the armownt of GAG that can be carvied
forward fram one year to the next,

3 Donations and capital grants

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

funds funds 1025 2024

£000 £000 £000 ECH

Capltal grants - 2,796 2,796 4,038
Other donations 23 . 3 125
23 2,796 2,819 4,167

The income from donations and capital grants, excleding transfier from local authority and singbe academy trust, defined pensions
obligation inherited and donated asgets, was £2 819k (2024: £4,167k) of which E23k was unrestricted (2024: £129%) and £1, 796k was
restricted fixed assets {2034: £4,038k].
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

4  Funding for our trust’s educational operations

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total
fumnds funds 2025 204
£000 £000 £000 £000
OFE grants
Gangral annual grant [GAG) - 37,509 87,503 81,049
Diher DIE grants
16-19 core education funding - 10,474 10,474 10,564
Start-up granks . 171 171 229
LIFSMA - 352 a5z 332
Pupil Premium - 5,468 5468 5,331
M5SAG - - - 2.760
C5aG - 3,469 3,458 s
TRAG . 1,448 1,448 1,427
TPECS - 2,348 2,348 1,181
Others - 2.5953 2,053 1,227
- 114,186 114,186 106,105
Unrestricted Restricted Total Tatal
fumds funds 2025 2024
£000 £000 £00 E00N
Other government grants
Local authority grants - 1,6ER 3,688 i,655
Other income from our academy
trust's educational operations 2,652 #r2 3,074 2,391
Total 2,852 118 296 120948 112151

The incame from funding for edecational operations was £120,948 (2024: £112,151k) of which £2,652k was unrestricted (2024:
reclassified E2,391k} and E118, 296k was restricted (2024: reclassified £104, 760K).

The ather grants above include PE and sports grant, rates relief, PELA grant, non-recoverable funding, recovery grant, acadermy brase
rental and MNIC grant, national TULOFNG program etc.

5  Other trading activities

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

funds funcs 2025 2024

000 £000 £00 L0060

Letting's income g 29 57
bAusic income 11 - i1 22
Catering Income 5 . 5 4
Other income TR - 7B E3
EYE] - 373 £

The incorme from other trading activities was £373k (2024: E366k) of which E3T3k was unrestricked (2024: E366k) and Enil was
restrictad (2024; £nil).
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

B Investrment Income

Unrestricted Restrictad Total Total

funds funds 2025 2024

EO0) E000 E000 E0a0

Short perm deposits 67 : 167 g5
ELH - 67 45

The incame from investment incame was £367k (2024: £95k) of which £36Tk was unrestricted (2024: £95k) and Enll was restricted
{20&4: £nil).

7 Expenditure

Mon-Pay Expenditure
Total Total
Staff costs Fremises Other 2025 2034
£0040 £000 £000 £000 EODD
Trust's educational operations:
- direct costs 75,074 = 8819 B3 EB93 79,062
= aliocated Support ooals 15,345 415 23,030 39,254 38,053
o90,423 415 31,840 123,187 117,115
Met income,{expenditure) for the perled Incluedes:
2025 2024
EQ00 ECD{y
Operating lease rentali:
PFI 4,862 4,538
Other operating leases 336 364
Depreclation 5901 5,565
(Gain}Toss an disposal of fived assets i3} (2
Amortisation of intanglble fixed assets (Included withén charitable sctivities — trust's educational 23 17
operations)
Fees payable to auditor for:
= audit 46 46
= other services 17 18

T Dhmsn Achernmm. Triid #
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Dixons Academies Trust

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

7 Expenditure (continued)

Total Total
5 2024
£000 E£00D
Direct costs = educational operations 83,893 749,062
Support costs — educational operations 39,157 37,962
Support Costs = governance 97 a1
1x3,187 117,115

Direct costs — educational operations
Total Total
2025 2024
£000 EQOD
‘Wages and salarigs 54,575 50,908
Matignal insurance 6,273 5,336
Parsions oosis 12,776 10,910
Supply teachers 1,198 1,964
Staff development 248 348
Educational supplies 6,501 7,395
Eamination fees 1,687 1,714
Other costs 631 487
Total 83,893 79 062
Taotal Taotal
2025 2024
Support costs = educational operations £000 £000
Wages and Lalariss 11,959 11,966
National Insurance 1,108 Qg3
Pensions Costs 1,046 1476
Supply staff 483 627
Recruitment and other staff costs 252 228
Technology cosis 1,747 1,352
Maintenance of premises and eguipment 015 1,154
Cleaning 315 655
Rent and rates 1,011 a4
Haat and light 1,718 2,004
Insurance 417 52
Security and transport 435 a1z
Carering 2,059 1557
Operating leases 5.197 4,901
Offioe overheads 1,667 12845
Depreclation and armartisation 5,924 5585
Education supplies 2,358 1,487
Bank charges Fi 28
Taotal 3-!':1'9'.' 37,082
2025 2024
Support costs — Govemance £000 £000
Auditors” remuneration &3 i
Other eass 4 7
Total a7 41

L] Dbwcafeh A iubinowrs Trurd
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

8 Staff and 5taff Costs

Staff costs and emplovee benefits

Staff costs during the peried wera: Total
2035

ED]

Wages and salaries 66,435
Social security costs (nchides Apprenticeship Lesy) 7.382
Pension costs 13811
Other employee benefits o7
BY,Ta5

Supply staff costs 2,182
Staff restructuring costs 156
20,073

Stafl restructuring costs comprise:

Redundanty payments T8
Sewerance payments T8
156

SEverance payments

Cuir trust pald & severance payments in the year, disclosed in the following bands:
£0-E£25,000 ]

Staff numbers
The average number of persons employed by our trust during the period was a5 follows:

2025

Ma.

Teachers 854
Administration and wuppart 1,040
Mansgement 41
1,935

2025

FTE

Teachers a08
Administration and support G676
Management 40
154

Toral
20324

62,717
6,320
12,385
7
B1.459
2,592
157
B4, 208

134
43
i57

2024
Mo,
917

a912
36

1865

20214
FTE
ave
G55

35

1.572

Dhavrvi ot achiernmr. Tripd d-"
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

B 5taff and staff costs (continued)

Higher paid stalf

The number of employess whote employee benefits (exceding employer pension costs and NI) exceeded £60L000 is set out in the
table below. For the 2025 disclosures, one employee’s total remuneration meludes dignificant payment in liew (PILON]) made upon
their departure, Excluding this ane-off payment, thelr remunerathen would have fallen within the £120,001 - £130,000 band,

2025 24
No. Mo.
£50,001 — ET0,.000 114 78
£70,001 - £80,000 37 28
£30,001 = £50,000 i7 14
£90,001 - £100,000 7 [
£100,001 = £110,000 & 7
£110,001 - £120,000 & .
E120,001 = £130,000 5 1
E130,007 — £140,000 F; 1
£140,001 - £150,000 1 1
E150,001 — £160,000 1
£190,001 - £200,000 . 1
E200, 001 — £2 10,000 1
Key management personnel

The key management persennel of our trust comprise our trustees and the school and college trust leaders listed on page 3. The total
amount of employee benefits {including employer pension contributions and NIj received by key management personnel including
principals for their services to our wrest was E5.967 millon (2024 £5.248 milllon].

9  Trustees' remuneration and expenses

Our chief executive only receives remuneration in respect of services he provides endertaking his role of chief executive. Trustees did
not receive any payments other than rebmbursed expenses from Disons Academdes Trust in respect of their role as trustees.

During the year ended 31 August 2025, travel and subsistence expenses totalling £380 were reimbursed to 2 trustees (2024:
£nil). Mo remuneration was pald to any trestea in the year nor in the priar year,

10 Trustees and officers insurance (RPA)

Dur trust has opted into the Department for Education’s risk protection arrangement (RIPA), an alternative to insurance where the LK
governrment funds cover losses that arlse. This scheme protects trustess and officers from claims arising from negligent scts, ecrors ar
omissions goowrring whilst on trust business, and provides cover up to E10,000,000. It is not possible to quantify our trustees and
officery’ indemnity element from the overall cost of the APA schame membership,

11 Central services

Our trust operates on a fully centralised business services model, This means key operational and strategic functions - from frontline
IT amd estates support 1o executive-lesel leadership = are defivered by a dedicated central team, This enswres consistency, elevates
standards, and drives efficiency across all our academies.

This i not a new cost 1o academies; it s a reclassification of existing expenditure, The staff and services that were once budgeted and
managed within individual academies (such as technicians and site staff) are now centrally managed and funded.

The central rechasge maechanism is therefore cost-neutral for our trust as a whole, Crucially, Tor each academy, the rechasge |s set at
a level that is typically lower than the historical cost of providing these services Individually., Schools and colleges benefit from the
same = or higher = quality services at a reduced effective cost, while alse being freed from the administrative burden of managing
them,

It is important ta nate that owr central recharge rate may appear higher than in some other trests precisely because aur medel 5 fully
centralised and completely transparent; many trusts leave these significant costs to be managed directly by academies.

Dlorgrry Scmdsrorn Brond JE
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Centrally provided serices includea:

= Trust leadership (executive-level): strategic direction and oversight from gur accounting officer and trust beaders, ensuring robust
governance and sustained school imgrovement,

= School improvement: research, professional development, and Systermatic transformation support delivered through our Centre for
Growth.

= Dperational support:

o Finance, HR, and payroll; including statutory reporting, budget manitoring, and workforce management.
o Procuremsent and contract management: ensuring value for money and compliance with public procurement standards,

= |nfragtructune:

o IT and digital: managernent of the entire IT network and digital infrastructure 1o wuppon learning, safeguarding, and data
SRCLIMY.
o Estates and sive management: including capital project delivery, compliance assurance, and maintenance.

= Compliance and governance:
& Marketing, cormmunications and design: induding managing websites, photography, PR and press, internal communications.
o Admissigns: coordination and appeals management,
o Legal, povernance and policy: enduring regulatory compliance and effective decision-making,

The benefits of our centralised model:

= Financial efficlency: achleves economies of scale through bulk purchasing, centralised contracts and shared resources,

# Assured compliance: guarantess adherence o Statulory requirements in finance, saleguarding, and data protection,

& Congistent quality: maintains high standands through coordinated owersight and expertise,

= Sxeategic foous: frees acaderny leaders from operational burdens to concentrate on teaching. leaming, and student outcomes,

The recharge rate of 9.25% of core income |B.25% for PRI academies) is set strictly o recover the cost of these tervices, 1105 réviewed
annually to enswre it remaing fair, transparent, and continues to provide exceptional value for money to our academbes (2024 - 925%
and PFI academies B.25%). The actual amounts charged during the year werg:

2025 2024

£000 £000
Dixoms City Acadermy o3 L%
Dixons Allerton Academy 1,100 1,054
Dixans Trinity Acaderiy 446 358
Dixons Mchillan Academy 416 189
Dixons Kings Academy 44 Sy
Diwons Muss Prireany 188 17
Dixons Marchbank Primary 210 201
Dixons Trinity Chapeltown Academy B1% LY
Dixons Manningham Prirmary il 196
Dixons Cottingley Academy (] 557
Dixons Sixth Farrm Academy 9 BED
Dixoms Wnity Acadeamsy 6TE 5ET
Cixons Brooklands Academy 242 46
Dixons Brosdgresn Academy 208 a3
Dixons Fazakerley Acadeany SE2 528
Dixons Newall Green 217 115
Dixons Croxteth Acadeny 304 185
Todtal 8,124 B354

a2 Doty A satermari Trid
Begniered (e oces City Az aderry, Ripley Shresd, Braciord, We- Serbsie. 808 THE Regawrad m Eaglirad Pl Z300%004



Dixons Academies Trust

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

A summarised Income and Expenditure Acoount for the year ended 31 August 2025 in

respect of the above is as follows:

Incarme

Recharge (o academies

Free Schools grant

Contribution to reserve

Cther DFE grant

Trust develogment grant and appeals
Other Income

CsagG

Taotal

Staff eouty

HR and legal services

Apdit and accountancy

IT Bicensing and software
Recruitment and advertising
Admissions

Capital purchaza

Other

Tatal

12 Other financial income

Imwestmaent income on pentian scheme assets

Interest on pension scheme Habifities
Tatal

13 Intangible fixed assets

Cost

At 1 Septembeer 2024
Additions

At 31 August 2035
Armortisathon

At 1 September 2024
Charged in year

At 31 August 2025

Carrying amsnt
At 31 August 2024
At 31 August 2025

8,124
21
2,276
&40

a34
1,810
14,334

9,547
13
a7

a7

33
1,007
11,691

1025
£000
2,935
12,545)

Computer
software

638

B53

e

605

2024
£000

8,368

1,525
454
113
225

10,715

9,263
136

108

41
Ed5
4145
11,366

20124
EODD
2,569

[2,383)
186

43
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Dixons Academies Trust
Motes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

14 Tangible fixed assets

Freehold land Leasehkald Plant and  Motor vehicles Fiztures and
and bulkdings land and machinery fittings
buildings
£000 E000 EQO0 £ 000 EODD

Cost
At 1 September 2024 45,980 114,644 2,288 53 11,748
Additions 238 EL . : 1,340
Transfer between classes -
Disposals - - - {4} -
At 31 August 2025 45,218 115,033 2,288 44 13,088
Depreciation
AL 1 September 2024 11,889 17931 2,788 50 65,8340
Charged in year 13 2,296 - 3 Erl ]
Disposals . . . (4 x
At 31 August 2025 1%,802 20,227 2,288 a9 7623
MNet beok values
At 31 August 2024 34,091 96,713 - 3 4,899
AL 3 August 2025 I3 416 94,806 - . 5465

Our trust's freehold properties are subject to charges held by the Secretary of State for Education. Leasehold Properties are held on a
125-year lease from the local suthority andfor Department for Edwcation.

Computor Total
equipment
Cast
Al 1 september 2024 16,730 190,443
Additions 1,160 3,127
Transter batween classes - -
Disposals . (4]
At 31 August 2025 17,890 194,564
Depreciation
At 1 Seprember 2024 12,158 51,165
Charged in year 1,915 5,501
Disposals T (4]
At 31 August 2025 14,073 57,062
Met book values
At 31 August 2024 4572 140,278
At 31 August 2025 3817 137,504
15 Stock
2025 2024
£000 EDO0
Finished goods and goods for resale 124 194
124 1o4

Thee stock of goods consists of books, stationeny, teaching consumables etc. purchased in 2024/25 for use in 2025/26.

44 Disors, Acndemas Trust SN
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Dixons Academies Trust

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

16 Debtors

Trade debtors

VAT recoverable

Other debtors

Prepayments and accrped income

2025

173
1172

5577
1,363

17 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Trade crediiors

Ouher taxation and social security
Other creditors

Accruals and deferred ingome

18 Deferred income

Deferred incoms at 1 Saptember 2024
Refeased from previous years
Resawrces deferrad in the year
Deferred Income at 31 August 2025

Rates

LIEF584

Growth funding
Trips

SAFE LOC — Menloding
EEF

PEIA

EY Clawback
SEM

Girl guiding
Lettings

South BAC

2025
EODD
2,556
1,830
2,764
3,504

2025

545
(545)
510
510

2025
EO0D
283

T TR

2024
EQO0

7
2147

4,633
1073

2024
E000
2,606
1,542
3,216
4,638
12,002

2024
EOD0
593
(598)
545
545

2024
E000
108
194
b5

54

10
20

545

Deferred income held at 31 Avgust 2025 relates to 202526 rates, universal infant free school meals, EY clawback e1c. as shawn sbove,

45
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial 5Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

19 Statement of funds

Balance at 1 Balance at
September Gains and 31 August
2024 Income  Expanditure {lasses) Transfers 2025
£000 £000 EQD0 EODD E000 EODD
Restricted general funds

General Annual Grant (GAG) 1572 87,503 183,8%0) « (1,346} 6,239
16 to 19 pragramme funding - 10,474 110,474) . . =
Start-up grant - 1m {171} - : -
UIF5M . 352 i1352) - - -
Pupil Premium . 5,458 {5, 468) . . %
ChBG r 3,469 (3,469] - -
TRAG - 1,448 (1,448) . ' =
TPECG - 2,348 (2,348) - - -
Other granis 1,536 7063 (7,454 - - 1,105
Pension reserve [455] - a2 [266) - -
5,052 118,296 1114, 352) [266) i1,346) 7,304

Restricted fixed asset funds
Tramsfer of building/FFE 36,093 . 1873] . : 35,220
Transfer on comnversion 71,318 - {1,662] ] s 69,656
DFE capital grants 27408 2,796 (2,504) - . 27,700
Tramshers in gn joining trust 1,000 - - = - 1,000
Private séctor capital sponsarship 166 - 15] - - 151
Capital expenditure from GAG 4,785 - {870) - 1,346 5261
140,770 2,796 (5.924) : 1,346 138,988
Total restricted funds 1454822 121,092 {120,316) [266) ¥ 145,332
Total unrestricted funds 833 3415 (2.871) - - 1,377
Total funds 146,655 124,507 {123,187) [266) - 147 709

The specific purposes for which the funds are to be appled are as follows:
Restricted funds

Restricted funds represent the cumulative unspent general annual grant, other government grants f income and spansorship incorme
carried forward from previous years in respect of funding received for the specific purpose of our trust’s running costs excluding fixed
asset, Unader the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the acadernies are mot subject to a limit an the amount of GAG that
can be carrbed forward as at 31 August 2025,

Unrastricted funds

Unrestricted funds represent surpluses generated from other trading activities and are to be used to support future general educational
purposes gither of a revenue or capital nature at the discretion of our trust board.

Rastrictad fixed asset fund

This Fund represents the cumulative net book vadee carried forward in respect of our trust’s tangible and intangible fied assets plus
any capital funding recaived from central f local government and other donors which has not been expended by the baltance sheet
date. The capital funding may be used to complete capital projects or undertake maintenance works on existing tangible fiked assets,
The fund balance also includes the carmying valuwe of fixed assets of an acadermy |oining cur trust frorm another trust and all other assets
donated (o our trust.

Pension resernng

This fund includes the pension resene which identifies the penson deficit of schopls joining owr trust from another trust and throwgh
which the pension scheme movements are recognised. 'Where a penshon valuation report & recelved and a surplus ar a deficit on the
defined benefit pension scheme & reparted, the movement is recognised where an assot or liability occurred, The reserve above &
negative because it constitutes a liability,

A6 Dinziuh b iibadtard Trind :;:{
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Dixons Academies Trust

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

19 Statement of funds (continued)

Comparative information in respect of the preceding period

Balance at 1 Balance at
September Gains and 31 Ausgust
2023 Income  Expenditure laases Transfers 2024
£000 E£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Restricted general funds

General Annual Grant [GAG) 5011 81,049 [79,7E5) {2.323) 3,872
16 to 19 programme funding - 10,569 [10,56%) ) -
Start-up grant 229 {225) -
LIFSH 332 [332) -
Pupil Premium 5331 {5,331} -
BSAG 2,760 |2,760) 3 . .
TRAG 1427 [1427) = ]
TRECS - 1,181 (1,181} - e
Qthar grants 1,442 6,882 [6,788) . 1,516
PEnEN FEsaree (479) . 419 1396) [456)
5,574 109, 60 {107.563) {396) {2,323} 5,052

Restricted fixed asset funds
Transfer of bauilding/FFE 36,966 . (873) 36,0403
Transfer on conversion 7997 - (1,67a) 71.31E
[HE capital grants 25,813 4,038 {&.443) &7.A08
Translers in an joining trust 1,000 - - - 1,000
Private sector capital sponsorship 182 = 16 - 166
Capital expenditure from GAG 3nav - 1575] 2,323 4,785
130 995 4 D3R 15,586 - 2323 140,770
Total restricted fundy 145,969 113,798 [113,545] [356] = 145 822
Total unrestricted funds 1,418 2,981 {3,566} = 833
Total funds 147,387 116,779 {117,115) {396) . 146,655

Total trust reserves balances

2025 2024
ED EC
Centrally held reserves = restricted and unrestricted funds (MAT) 8,721 B,341
Restricted fixoed asset fund 136,508 140,710
Pension reserve - (456}
Total 147,709 146,655

Our trustess approved that all reserves held by our trust would be centralised. This decision has been taken so that all academies
within aur trust ane supported, Conseguently, our trustees have decided to pool all reserves, Accordingly, no surpluses or deficits are
atiributed to particular schools, but all ane beld centrally. Our trustees are committed to ensuring that the balance of reserves
[EE,721rm a5 at 31 Auguist 2025) will be used effectively for the benefit of each child wheo is educated within a Dixons acadiermy,

&7 Dhsns Aradermes Trust ﬂ
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Analysis of academies by cost
Teaching and Other Educational Other costs Total Tatal
educational  support staff supplies excluding 2025 24
support staff costs depreciation
costs
£000 £ Ce} EDOG EQO0 E000 E0
Diwans City Academy 4512 ZED 441 859 6,681 6,318
Dixons Kings Acadeny 4,050 ER2 402 1,088 6,402 k318
[riwons Allerton Academy 9571 1,304 733 1,433 13,041 12,194
Dixons Music Primary 1,676 264 24 283 2,307 2,263
Dixons Marchbank Primary 2009 246 oo 419 2,843 2. 16k
Dixons Trinity Academy 3,375 G55 239 581 4,850 4,612
Dixons Mcbillan Acadenny 1,224 501 20 £39 4,624 4,507
Dixons Manningham Primary 1,926 350 75 250 2,601 2,354
Diixars Trinity Chapeltown . 304 To8 561 #19 7482 B.B44
Dixons Cottingley Academy 4,416 723 338 e EA7 6,216
Dixons Unity Academy 5.102 493 475 2,165 B.235 7860
Dixans Sixth Foam Acadeny 5,048 214 637 1,340 T.E3 7,494
Dikons Central Services 4,291 4,365 R 2,235 10,539 10,102
Centra for Growth FFE. 154 Fi E: 3 a7r7 473
Dixons Farakeriey Academy 4,704 159 a3 1,782 1477 T.065
Dixons Broadgreen Academy 5360 613 1,643 2,393 10,009 0,E03
Dinans Brooklands scademy 6,118 &0B 60 1,329 8,735 9,004
Dixons Mewall Green 1,686 146 200 155 1,387 1550
Dixons Crosteth Academy 2394 614 193 659 3. E64 3,500
75,118 14,858 7.767 19,520 117,263 111,529

20 Analysis of net assets between funds

Fund balances at 31 August 2025 are represented by:

Restricted Restricted 2025 2024
Unrestricted Ganeral Fined Asset Total Funds Total Funds
Funds Funds Funds £00D £000

E0QD £000 £000
Intangible fized assets - - 48 a8 1
Tangible fixed assets - - 137,504 137,504 140,278
Current asseis 1,377 17,998 1,436 20,811 18,779
Current liabilithes - (10.654] - {10,654) {12,002]
Mon-current labilithes - - - . -
Pension scherms Habiélity i 3 i - {456
Total net assets 1,377 7,344 138,988 147,704 146,655

21 Capital commitments

2025 2024
ED00 £000
Contracted for, but not provided in the financial statements 571 460

48 Chairs A cacderims Trund q{:ll
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

22 Long-term commitments, including operating leases

Operating Lease
At 31 August 2025, the total of eur trust’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable gperating leases was:
2025 2024
£000 £000
Amounts dwe withinone year G673 B33
Amaounts due between one and five years 1,534 1,BES
dmounts due after five years 553 gER
3,200 3,510

Other contractual commitments

At 31 August 2025, the total of our trust’s future minimurm payments under other contractual commitments was:

2025 2024

£000 EQO0

Amounts due within one year 4047 3717
Amounts due between one and five years 17,783 16,089
Amounts due after five years 17,883 21,547
19,769 41,353

Dur trust occuples premises which are subject to a private finance initiative (PFI) contract. Our trust itself is not party to this service
concession contract, however, our trust has entered inTo a supporting agresment towards the oosts of the kecal authority. The atsove
relates o commitments to operating payments including costs for catering. cleaning, utilities, and ather andillary senncas,

23 Reconciliation of net income/(expenditure)

2025 2024
E000 EQD
Het incomefespenditure) for the reporting pericd (as per the statement of financial
Actiwitias) 1,320 {336)
Adjusted for:
- Amogrtisation [note 13] 23 ir
- Depreciation [pote 14) 5801 5560
- Capital grants from OFE and other capital incomae (2,706 {4,038)
- Transfer from single acadermy brast
- Profit)fLoss on disposal of floed asset {3} {2l
- Interest receivable [note 6] 367} [95)
- Datfined beselit pension scheme obligation Inherited - .
- Defined benefit pension scheme cost less contribetions payable [note 28,29) (332) (233)
- Defined benefit pension scheme finance cost [note 28,29] {390} (1B&]
- {Increase)/decrease in stocks 70 [E5]
= [Increase)/decrease in debtors {290} (a01)
= Increaie [decrease) in creditars {1,348) 1,259
Met cash provided by/ (used In) operating activities 1,788 1,489
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

24 Cash flows from investing activities

2025 2024

£000 £000

Diwidends, interest and rents from investments 6T o5
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 3 2
Purchase of intangible fleed assers [15) {35)
Purchase of tangible fived assets 3,127 16,858)
Transfer from single academy trust : .
Capital grants from DIE and other capital incarme 1,796 4,018
Transfer from single academy trust x -
Met cash provided by/f{used in) investing activities 24 2,758

25 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Ar 31 August At 31 August

2025 2024

E000 005

Cash In hand and at bank 6,470 6,915
Depasit account (12 months) 6,854 4,597
Total cash and cash equivalents 13,324 11,5132

26 Members liability

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribwte to the assets of the charitable cormpany in the event of it being
wound up while hefshe is a member, or within one year after befshe ceases to be a member, such amount as may be required, not
exceeding E10 for the debts and Habilities contracted before hefshe ceases to be a member,

27 Pension and similar obligations

Cuir trust's employess belong to two principal pension schemes: The Teachers’ Pendion Schirme England and Wales (TPS) for academic
and related staff, and the Local Governmient Pension Scheme [LGPS) for non-teaching staff which is managed by West Yorkshire Pension
Fund, Greater Manchester Pension Fund and Merseyside Penslon Fund. They are all multi-ernployer defined benefit sohiermes,

The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2020 and of the LGPS to the period ended 31 March
2022

Contributions amounting 1o £1,638,351 were payable to the schemes at 31 August 2025 [2024: £1,503,349) and are includied within
creditors.

28 Teachers' Pension Scheme
intraduction

The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPE) is a statutary, contributory, defined benefit scheme, gowerned by the Teachers' Pensions
Regulations 2014, Membership s autematic for teachers in acadery trusts. All teachers have the option to apt-out of the TPS following
enralrment,

The TPFS is an unfunded scheme to which both the member and the employer makes contributions, as & percentage aof salary — these
contributions are credited Lo the Exchequer. Retirement and ather pension benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament.

Valuation of the Teachers' Penslon Scheme

The Governiment Actuary, wsing normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial revies ol the TPS in accordance with the Public
Service Pensions [Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 published by HM Treasury every 4 years, The aim of the review
Is to ensure scheme costs are recognised and managed appropriately and the review specifies the level of future cantributions,

Actuarial scheme valuations are dependent on asiumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and many other factors.
The latest actuarial valuathon of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2020, The valuation repart was published by the Department
for Education on 27 Dctober 2023, with the SCAPE rate, sot by HMT, applying a notional investment return based on 1.7% above the
rate of CPI. The key alerments of the valuation and subsequent consultation are;

= grmiployer contributhon rates set at 28.68% of pensionabde pay (incCluding a 0.08% administration lewy]; this 5 an increase of 5% in
armployer contributions and the cost controd reswlt is such that no change in member benefits is needed
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Dixons Academies Trust
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

e potal scheme Habilities (pensions currently in payrent and the estimated cost of future benefits] for service to the effective date of
£262,000 milon, and motienal assets |estimated future contributions together with the notional imvestments hald at the valuation
date) of £222,200 million giving a notional past service deficit of £39,800 million

Tha reesult of this valuation was implernented on 1 April 2024, The nest valuation result s duee to be implemented from 1 Ageil 2027,
The emjployer’s pension costs paid to TPS in the period amounted to £11.438 milipn (2024; £5.668 millian),

& copy of the valuation report and suppoerting dodumentation s on the Teachers” Pensigns website.

Under the definitians set out In FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-emplayer pension scheme, Qur trust is unable to identify its
share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the plan. Accosdingly, our trust has taken the advantage of the exemption in FR5102
and has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme, Dur trust has se1 out above the
information available on the schema.

29 Local Government Pension Scheme

The LGPS is a funded defined benefit pension scheme, with the assets held in separate trustee-administered funds, The total
canbribution made for the year ended 31 August 2035 was £4, 28Tk [2024: £3,896k) of which employer’s contributions totalled £3, 168k
[2024: E2,849%) and emplovees” contributions totalled £1,119k [2024: £1,047k). The agreed contribution rates for future years are
bepween 15.2% & 19.4% for employers and between 5.5% and 12.5% for employees,

Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, 1o a guarantee that, in the event of an academy trust
closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme labilities would be met by the Department for Education, The guaranies
came into force on 18 July 20403 and on 21 July 2022, the Department for Education reaffinrmed its commitrment to the guarantee, with
a parliarmentary minute published on GOV.UE.

Frincipal actuarial assumptions

At 31 August 2025 AT 31 August 2024

Range Hange

Rate of increase in salaries 3.50% - 4,10% 3.45% - 4.10%
Rate of Increase for pensions in payment/inflation 2.50% - 2.70% 2,508 - 2.70%
Discount rate for scheme liabilties 6.10% - 6.20% 4.90% - 5.00%
Inflation assumgtion [CPI1) 2.50% - 2.70% 2.50% - 2.65%
Pension atcounts revalustion rate 2.50% 2.500%

Commatation of pensions to lemp sums

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements (n mortality rates, The assumed life
expECtathons on retirement age 65 are:

At 31 August 2025 AR 31 Awgust 2024
Retiring today Average Ayerage
Males 206 26
Females 23.3 313
Retiring fn 20 years
Makps 214 215
Females 4.6 4.8
Sensitivity analysis
At 31 August 2025 AL 31 August 2024
£0:00 £000
Discount rate +.1% (¥99) (1,084]
Digcount rate -0L1% S5 1124
Mortality assumgtion = 1 year Increase (a24) (GIE4)
Mortality assurmption = 1 year decrease 508 o2
CPl rate +0,1% ET3 1,050
CPlrate -0.1% {764) (1,047]
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Dixons Academies Trust

Motes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

Our trust"s share of the assets in the scheme

Fair value at 31 August 2025 Fair walue at 31 August 2024
E000 E0D
Equity instruments 44,744 42 918
Baonds 8,620 7.01%
Property 3,139 2,712
Cash and other 5,625 5,340
Total market value of agiets b6, 128 57,980
The actual return on scheme assets was E5.058,000 {2024: £5.990,000)
Amount recognised in the statement of financial activities
2025 2024
0D E000
Current service cost [net of employes contributions) [2,760) {2,605}
Het interest cost 350 1B
Past service cost (10} =
Administrative expenses [ GE) {11}
Total operating charge [2,406) {24300
Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations
2025 2024
£000 E£000
At 1 September 5E,445 45,511
Upzn converslon -
Cuwrrant servioe cost 2,760 2,605
PFast serviie cost 12 =
Interast cost 2,545 2383
Employee contributions 1,119 1,047
Actuarial (gain]/loss 1,389 3817
Benefits paid (1,136) {918)
Mot increase in assets from disposalsfacguisitions - =
At 31 August 66,128 58,445
Changes in the fair value of our trust's share of scheme assets
2025 2024
£000 000
At 1 September 57,959 #3,032
Lipamn eonversion - !
Interast income 2,935 2569
Retwrn on plan assats (excluding net interest on the net defined
pension Hability) . .
Actuarial gaing{loss) 2113 3434
Ermployer contributbons 3,168 849
Employes contributions 1,119 1,047
Benefits paid {1,196) {91E}
Administrative expenses {10} {11}
et increae in aseets from disposals/acguisitions A “
At 31 August 66,128 57,989

The workings of the net valuaticn of the combined pension schemes shows a pendion asset which includes & net asset valuation of
£13,973k for Dimons Academies Trust (WYPF), £3,735k for Dixons Brocklands Academy [GMPF], £1,14 1% for Dixons Fazakerley Acadery
(MPF] E1,640% for Dixons Broadgreen Acaderny (MPF) and £29% for Dixons Cronteth [(MFP). However, our trustees believe that in order
to show a true and fair view, the net asset should not be recognised (surplus restricted to nil) and, as a result, we have adjusted the
actuarial galn on the defined benefit obligations so that a pension asset is not recognised on the balance shest,

)
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Dixons Academies Trust
MNotes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2025

30 Related party transactions

Crwing to the nature of owr trust and the compasition of gur trust board being drawn from local public and private sector organisations,
rransactions may take place with organisations in which our trust has an interest. ANl transactions invohing such organisations are
conducted in scoordance with the requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook, including notifying the DFE of all transactions made
an or after 1 April 2019 and obtaining thelr approval where required, and with our trust’s financial regulations and normal procurement
procedures relating to connected and related party transactions,

Ewceed Academies Trust, a trust which Mr B Fitzpatrick and Ruby Bhatti are members:

During the year, our trust received no income (2024: £nil) but incurred expenditure of £4,202 (2024: Enil) relating to prevention
placement and training.

The trancactions followed our trust's procurement process. Where services have exceeded £2,500, the tlement above is provided at
no more than cost. Any transactions with the abowe organisations comply with the requirements set out in the Acadenmy Trust
Handbook.

31 Agency arrangements

Our trust distributes 16-19 bursary funds to students as an agent for the DFE. In the accounting pericd ending 31 Awgust 2025, our
brust received £654K (2024: ETSOK) and disbursed £853k (2024; ETE5K] from the fund. Each acadermy may rétan up o 5% of the fund
income to cover associated administration costs. Ay unspent monies are retained for future years spending to a masimum of 2 years.
The value of unspent funds as at 31 August 2025 and included in other creditors was £274k (2024: £433k).

2025 024

£000 E000
Fund brought forward 413 458
Bursary funding received 694 50
Total incarne 1,127 1,218
Funds distribuned £18 152
53¢ admin cost retention 35 33
Total costs E53 785
Funds carried forward 27 433

Our trust signed an MOU with South Behaviour and Attendance Collaboration (commonly known as Sauth BAC) to act as an agent to
manage their funds. The BAC ks a voluntary non-statutory agreement across schools in the Ssuth Bradford o promote sector-led’
improvenments in schaal of children and young peoples’ improved participation, engagement and attendance. In the accounting period
ending 31 August 2025, Dixons Academies Trust received funds of £641k (2024: £1,343k} and disbursed funds of EB0DK [2024: E620%),
The undistributed fund of ES61k [2024: £729k) ks held in other creditons.

Collaborative arrangement

Our trust has entered into an agreement with Amibition Institute to establish collaborative relationship to defiver 3-year initial teacher
training starting 1 Septernber 2024 to 31 August 2027, Our trust, through its Centre for Growth, provides the training with the first
cohart being admitted on 1 September 2024, Ambition Institute pays the lead partnes (Dixons Academnies Trust} £4,800 per trainge
for completing a full year programime.

During the yeas, our trust recalved E94k from Armbition Institute for delivering the first year of the initial teacher training programme.
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